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1                BE IT REMEMBERED that on Wednesday, August 20, 

2      2014, at 9:10 a.m. at 14675 Interurban Avenue South, 

3      Tukwila, Washington, before REBECCA S. LINDAUER, Certified 

4      Court Reporter, in and for the State of Washington, the 

5      following proceedings were had, to wit:

6           

7                ARBITRATOR:  Back on the record at about 9:10 on 

8      the morning of August 20th.  Still assembled as previously 

9      and continuing the interest arbitration between IBT 117 and 

10      the Department of Corrections.  Parties are present and 

11      represented as previously, and we return to the agency's 

12      case in chief and its next witness.  

13           Thanks for coming.  

14                MS. ROBERTS:  Thanks for letting me.  

15                ARBITRATOR:  Hey.  We've been waiting to hear from 

16      you.  I need to get you to raise your hand, please.  

17           

18 ANGELA ROBERTS,             having been first duly sworn,

19                             testified as follows:    

20

21                ARBITRATOR:  Please spell your name for us.       

22                THE WITNESS:  Angela, A-n-g-e-l-a, Roberts, 

23      R-o-b-e-r-t-s.  

24                ARBITRATOR:  Thanks.  

25 ///
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1                         DIRECT EXAMINATION

2 BY MR. KLEIN: 

3 Q    Ms. Roberts, who do you work for?  

4 A    The Washington State Department of Corrections.

5 Q    And how long have you been with Corrections?

6 A    I have been with Department of Corrections for about 14 and 

7      a half years.

8 Q    And what do you do currently?

9 A    I'm currently the labor relations manager for the 

10      Department.

11 Q    And can you tell us a little bit about what's involved in 

12      being the labor relations manager?

13 A    Sure.  I --

14 Q    You have to go through the stress of bargaining?

15 A    I do.  I get to testify periodically.  I have responsibility 

16      for the administration of the Labor Relations Program within 

17      the Department.  We also, within the Labor Relations Unit, 

18      have four labor relations consultants who report directly to 

19      me.  

20           And through myself and the four consultants, we 

21      participate in demands to bargaining, grievance adjudication 

22      proceedings in front of the Public Employment Relations 

23      Commission, all that good stuff.  

24           With regard to labor and employee relations, we also 

25      provide advice and guidance on contract interpretation to 
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1      executive level management all the way down to lower level 
2      managers and supervisors and the local human resource 
3      offices throughout the state.  
4           Also within the Labor Relations Unit that I oversee, we 
5      have a workplace Investigation Services Unit, and that has 
6      an investigation manager along with eight investigators who 
7      conduct sensitive and complex employee misconduct 
8      investigations, including internal discrimination complaint 
9      investigations.

10 Q    Prior to becoming the labor relations manager, what did you 
11      do with DOC?
12 A    I was a labor relations consultant for, I would say, in 
13      total, about four and a half years or so before I took over 
14      the manager job.  Prior to that -- you know, performing all 
15      the same duties I just described.  
16           Prior to that, I was a human resources manager at one 
17      of the -- one of the prison facilities, Stafford Creek 
18      Corrections Center, in Aberdeen, Washington, for about a 
19      year and a half.  
20           And prior to the human resource manager job, I was a 
21      human resource consultant at the same facility, providing 
22      professional human resource services and consultation to 
23      employees, managers, supervisors at that facility.  
24 Q    Could you look at -- let's start with 2-6 in the book.  Can 
25      you tell us what this is?
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1 A    This is a table that shows the breakdown of our employees at 

2      the Department and where their representation status is.  

3      So, for example, under the representation column, you'll see 

4      Teamsters 117, number of employees.  That reflects the 

5      number of our employees within the Department who Teamsters 

6      represent and the percent of the total Department employees 

7      that that includes.  

8           And so if you continue down the table, the Washington 

9      Federation of State Employees represents about 1,037 of our 

10      employees.  Roughly 837 are nonrepresented, 595 are not 

11      assigned.  Not assigned, as you can see from the footnote, 

12      includes those who are in Washington Management Service or 

13      exempt management service.  

14           And coalition refers to the 23 employees we have now 

15      who are part of the McNeil Island stewardship, which is 

16      really the ferry operators and boat captains who operate the 

17      ferries from Steilacoom dock to McNeil Island and back.  

18 Q    Let's turn the page and go to 2-7, if we could.  What do we 

19      have there?  

20 A    This is a listing of all the job classifications that the 

21      Teamsters represent along, with the number of employees 

22      under the count column that are in each job classification.  

23 Q    And it looks like these are all in alphabetical order, so we 

24      can find them quickly if we need to.  

25 A    They are in alphabetical order.  On the left-hand side is a 
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1      job class code that State human resources issues to each job 

2      classification.  It's a unique identifier for that 

3      particular job class.

4 Q    We've had testimony about several of the different 

5      positions, but I'm going to ask you about a few that are 

6      larger.  

7           Can you tell us what the classification counselors do?

8 A    The classification counselors in our prisons work in the 

9      offender living units, which is where the offenders live, 

10      and they provide different services to the offenders, namely 

11      around how the offenders are classified.  They do work with 

12      them to develop their release plans, if they're getting 

13      close to release, job education plans, hook them up with the 

14      resources that they need, sort of full service.

15 Q    How about fiscal analyst?

16 A    Our fiscal analysts perform, I would say, primarily do two 

17      different types of tasks in our agency, one being with 

18      regard to offender banking.  So they'll handle things on the 

19      offender finance side of the house, taking care of money or 

20      purchases the offenders might make for different items.  And 

21      then several of them also work in our payroll area, which is 

22      more on the employee side of the house.

23 Q    There's a large group of looks like office assistants.  What 

24      do they do?

25 A    The range of duties that our office assistants perform 
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1      really do depend on where they're at.  So our Teamsters 

2      represented office assistants who work in prisons can either 

3      be the primary administrative support in the offender living 

4      units.  They will provide administrative support and 

5      clerical support to our counselors and our unit supervisors.  

6           They also provide administrative or clerical support 

7      perhaps to a Health Services Unit or to our Fiscal Unit or 

8      to our Records Unit.  Those Records Units, the Fiscal Units, 

9      usually they're outside the secure perimeter but still on 

10      the prison grounds.  

11           And then we also have a small handful of office 

12      assistants who work in our DOC headquarters building.  Some 

13      of them are represented.  Some of them are not.  And they 

14      also perform, you know, general clerical or administrative 

15      duties for whichever unit they're assigned to.

16 Q    And when you talk about administrative and clerical duties, 

17      I'm not looking for you to get into nuances of what they're 

18      doing, but are they the same types of clerical and 

19      administrative duties that one might normally expect office 

20      assistants to be doing wherever they might be?

21 A    Yes.  They might vary based on the work unit and any 

22      uniqueness around that particular work unit.  But, yes, 

23      filing, answering phones, assisting supervisors with, you 

24      know, completing documents, proofreading, general support.

25 Q    And let's continue.  Could you look at Exhibit 2-8 for me, 

Page 344

1      please.  

2 A    (Witness complies.)

3 Q    Do you have that in front of you?

4 A    I do.

5 Q    And can you walk us through this?

6 A    Sure.  This is -- it's arranged differently, but again, it's 

7      a table that includes the Teamsters' job classifications 

8      that exist within the Department of Corrections.  And the 

9      color coding on the document separates out job 

10      classifications that are unique to the Teamsters unit.  

11      Incidentally, they're also unique to Corrections, which 

12      means they don't exist in another state agency.  

13           And the green color code, again, are classifications 

14      that are unique to Department of Corrections, but there's 

15      also employees within these classifications who are 

16      represented by the Federation -- or Washington Federation of 

17      State Employees.

18 Q    And then if there's no color?

19 A    If there's no color, then the job classification is a 

20      general job classification that you might find in any other 

21      state agency as well as Department of Corrections.

22 Q    With regard to the corrections and custody officers, you've 

23      indicated that there are some in the Federation unit.  Can 

24      you tell me what kinds of duties those in the Federation 

25      unit would be doing?
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1 A    We do have work release in Eastern Washington.  It's called 

2      Tri-Cities work release.  We have some correctional 

3      officers, and I think three correctional sergeants at that 

4      work release facility.  And they perform duties similar to 

5      what you would find in a correctional officer duties in 

6      prison, the main difference being the level, of course, of 

7      security of the facility.  Prisons are more secure than work 

8      releases.  

9           Also in the Federation we have custody officers who 

10      supervise community work crews.  Generally those are crews 

11      that are taken out into the community to do various types of 

12      janitorial or cleanup duties.  Sometimes they help set up 

13      and break down county fairs.  It just depends on the 

14      location.  

15           But the offender crews that they take out are generally 

16      what we refer to as violators.  And violators are offenders 

17      who have released from prison who are now under what we call 

18      community supervision or some refer to as parole, sort of.  

19      And they've violated the conditions of their supervision in 

20      one way or another.  And so the extent of their violation 

21      has sentenced them, for lack of a better word, to community 

22      work crew duty as opposed to going back to prison for a 

23      certain period of time.  

24           So those officers will take out a crew of anywhere from 

25      six to ten of those violators or sometimes included in who 
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1      they supervise or city or county offenders and go out and do 
2      whatever types of duties for the community they'll be doing 
3      that day.
4 Q    I think Mr. Frakes talked with us about there's the prison 
5      side of the house and then the -- what I'll call the 
6      community corrections side of the house.  Can you tell us a 
7      little more about what happens on the community corrections 
8      side of the house?
9 A    Sure.  On the community corrections side of the house, the 

10      largest job classification are what we call community 
11      corrections officers.  And for -- the easiest way to explain 
12      it really is parole officer.  I mean, there's much more that 
13      goes into community supervision than parole but it's the 
14      best comparison I can think of.  
15           What those folks are responsible for is supervising 
16      offenders who have released from prison and ensuring that 
17      they meet the conditions of their release.  So sometimes 
18      conditions of release include no alcohol or drug use.  All 
19      conditions of release include obey all laws.  
20           So they monitor the offenders on their caseload, ensure 
21      that they're complying with whatever their release 
22      conditions are, and provide that safety aspect to the 
23      community and those offenders under their supervision.  
24           So, I mean, some of their daily stuff includes either 
25      office visits or check-ins in their offices by offenders or 
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1      they'll go to the offender's home at certain periods of time 
2      in order to perform home inspections to ensure they're 
3      meeting their conditions of supervision and, you know, to 
4      observe their living conditions.
5 Q    With regard to visits like that, are those done one-on-one?
6 A    Usually, no.  Standard safety protocol is two at a time 
7      because, frankly, you don't know what you're going to get 
8      when you knock on that door.  Some offenders live in rough 
9      areas.  It is a safety precaution not only from just a pure 

10      safety standpoint, but from the liability standpoint as 
11      well.
12 Q    With regard to the community corrections officers, are there 
13      any risks that they incur, any issues that they incur in 
14      term of their interactions?
15 A    They do.  You know, like I said, they never know for sure if 
16      the offender might have unauthorized weapons, if they might 
17      be arranging some sort of jump, for lack of a better word, 
18      where the officer enters and they've got somebody hiding.  I 
19      mean, so they've got protocols for that.  
20           Our community corrections officers also have arrest 
21      authority.  So if an offender has violated their terms of 
22      supervision, they might be on-site at the offender's home to 
23      arrest them for whatever reason.  
24           And then oftentimes -- especially the last couple years 
25      I've seen an increase just in the incident reports coming in 
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1      with the different threats from offenders on supervision.  

2      They're not very happy when they have to go to jail for 

3      three days or, you know, formally do something else because 

4      they've violated terms of supervision.  So there's been bomb 

5      threats to different offices.  There's been death threats to 

6      some of our CCO's, community corrections officers.  Sorry.  

7      Those kinds of things.

8                ARBITRATOR:  CO's ordinarily do not have arrest 

9      powers.  Is that true?  

10                THE WITNESS:  Correct.

11                ARBITRATOR:  But CCO's and CO's are in the same 

12      classification?  

13                THE WITNESS:  They are different.  So CO's are 

14      corrections and custody officers, and the CCO's are 

15      community corrections officers.  

16                ARBITRATOR:  Thank you.  

17                THE WITNESS:  You're welcome.

18 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Are the CCO's, the community corrections 

19      officers, armed?

20 A    Some of them, yes.  

21 Q    Depends on what they're doing.  Is that how that works?

22 A    It does depend.  They're not required to be armed, but 

23      there's criteria that fall in place for them to be eligible 

24      to be armed.  So if you want to be armed as a CCO, then you 

25      have to meet the certain criteria, meet the training 
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1      standards and requirements.
2                ARBITRATOR:  Spend the time on the range?  
3                THE WITNESS:  Yes.  
4 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  That reminds me, I was going to clear this 
5      up.  We had some testimony about firearms training and 
6      defensive tactics and core, and I, at least, got confused.  
7      Can you straighten me out?  Does everybody take defensive 
8      tactics?  Does everybody do firearms?  Or is that something 
9      that's not given to everybody?

10 A    It is not given to everybody.  In the prisons division or in 
11      our prison facilities, it is unique to corrections officers 
12      and correctional sergeants, or CO 3's, which would be the 
13      classification title.  Only those staff receive defensive 
14      tactics and firearms in core and then in annual in-service.  
15      Those staff who are noncustody or nonuniformed receive in 
16      core the opportunity to go to a self-defense course and 
17      physical fitness.
18 Q    When you say "the opportunity," that means it's optional 
19      whether they do or they don't?
20 A    The self-defense is optional.  I believe the fitness is 
21      required.
22 Q    Can we move to 2-9, please?
23 A    Sure.
24 Q    I think Mr. Frakes may have discussed this already, so if 
25      you could just briefly tell us what this is.  
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1 A    This is an employee count by facility table.  So, for 
2      example, what this tells us is in headquarters, there are 42 
3      Teamsters employees who work there.  In Stafford Creek 
4      Corrections Center, there are 474 Teamsters represented 
5      employees.
6 Q    With regard to facilities where there are employees who are 
7      both inside and outside the secured perimeter, will those -- 
8      all of those employees regardless are included as being at 
9      the facility on this chart?

10 A    Yes.
11 Q    Would you go to 2-10 for me, please.  
12 A    (Witness complies.)
13 Q    And can you tell us what this is?
14 A    Yes.  This is the Teamsters employee count by county.  And 
15      by "county," we mean the county that the facility or office 
16      they work in is located.  So it's based on the location of 
17      our institution and offices.
18 Q    I see there's number in Franklin County.  Is that where 
19      Coyote Ridge is?
20 A    Yes.  Franklin County is where Coyote Ridge Corrections 
21      Center is located.  You'll see a pretty large number under 
22      Snohomish because that's where our Monroe Correctional 
23      Complex is located.  It's one of our three largest 
24      facilities.
25 Q    Mason, is that the Shelton facility?
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1 A    Yes.

2 Q    The others are obvious enough.  

3           Let's move on to 2-11.  

4 A    (Witness complies.)

5 Q    Does this break up the -- or take the information we had in 

6      the previous page and try and distribute it by 

7      classification?

8 A    It does.  It distributes it by classification and county of 

9      where that particular classification is located.

10 Q    So up at the top where it says Clallam County, it looks over 

11      at far right, it's 371.  What is that number?

12 A    That means that the total number of Teamsters represented 

13      employees who work in Clallam County is 371, and then below 

14      that is the actual numbers breakdown.  So, for example, if 

15      you go down a few rows, corrections and custody officers, it 

16      says 227, and then Clallam County means there's 227 

17      correctional officer 2's who work at our Clallam Bay 

18      Correctional Center.

19 Q    And you have that information then for each of the counties 

20      that there are facilities?

21 A    Yes.  So the next one would be Clark County, which is Larch 

22      Correction Center.  It's one of our camp facilities, our 

23      standalone minimum facilities.  The next one you see -- each 

24      new county starts with bold font so it's a little bit easier 

25      to pick out by eye.  Franklin County being the next, which 
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1      is Coyote Ridge Corrections Center.  Grays Harbor County is 

2      Stafford Creek Corrections Center.  

3                THE WITNESS:  Do you want me to go through the 

4      whole list?  

5                ARBITRATOR:  No.  Thanks.  

6                THE WITNESS:  I didn't think you needed me to.  

7 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Can you go to 2-12, please?

8 A    (Witness complies.)

9 Q    What is this?

10 A    This is a rollup document that our statewide HR Operations 

11      Unit put together that reflects in, essentially, five-year 

12      increments the overall seniority of our employees.  And 

13      you'll see that date in the upper right-hand corner, 

14      7/23/2014.  That's the date the report was compiled, so it's 

15      overall seniority as of that date.  

16           What we did is, we split it out into our larger job 

17      classes, and then everyone else essentially, which is 

18      correctional officer, sergeant, classification counselors, 

19      nurses, our cooks, and our maintenance and trades group, and 

20      then everyone else, which would be primarily your other 

21      support staff, your other nonuniformed support staff.  It is 

22      only inclusive Teamsters represented employees.

23 Q    I'm going to stop you there.  We had some testimony earlier 

24      about CCO 1 and CCO 2.  CCO 1 being I think the -- well, 

25      I'll just let you tell us the difference between or what is 
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1      the CCO 1 and what is CCO 2?
2                MR. THAL:  Now, when you say "CCO," I'm going to 
3      start to be concerned that there's going to be a confusion 
4      now between CO -- 
5                MR. KLEIN:  Thank you.  
6                MR. THAL:  -- and CCO, Federation versus -- I know 
7      it's technically CCO in the classification, but we have to 
8      be really clear here.
9                MR. KLEIN:  Fair enough. 

10 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  I'm talking about the correction officers 
11      that are in the Teamsters unit --
12 A    Yes.
13 Q    -- for the most part.  
14 A    Yes.  We do have correctional officer 1's and correctional 
15      officer 2's.  However, in the documents that you see in the 
16      job classification listing, it only lists correctional 
17      officer 2.  The reason for that is because there are no 
18      permanent correctional officer 1 positions.  All of our 
19      officer positions are at the 2 level because CO 1 truly is 
20      an in-training job class.  
21           So when we hire people off the street who don't have 
22      any experience, they are hired at the CO 1 level in training 
23      until they meet the requirements of the 2.  But because 
24      there are no permanent CO 1 positions -- and I'm just going 
25      to get sort of techie systems on you, but because there are 
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1      no CO 1 positions, all people who are hired at that level 

2      are entered into the system as a CO 2 underfill, underfilled 

3      as a 1.  

4           And so when we pull reports based on employees and job 

5      classifications, they all lump together in the CO 2 class.  

6      So the number for CO 2's that's reflected in the numbers 

7      reports includes those staff who are at 1 level.

8 Q    Thank you.  

9           Can you walk us through for a CO -- let's start with 

10      that -- what the hiring process is?

11 A    Sure.  The correctional officer hiring processes are most, I 

12      would say, detailed, our most detailed process and includes 

13      the most steps.  The first thing that we do is any kind of 

14      marketing or outreach that might be done.  If it's a more 

15      remote area, might do more heavy advertising than in some 

16      areas where it's easier to fill positions.  

17           So your applicant will submit their application online 

18      through our electronic applications system.  Those 

19      applications are reviewed for meeting requirements and then 

20      the -- those who do meet the requirements, which are, I 

21      believe, high school graduation or GED and a valid 

22      Washington driver's license.  

23           Those who meet those qualifications are sent an 

24      invitation to come do the video assessment, and the video 

25      assessment is unique to our corrections officer job.  And it 
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1      includes a series of a few videos to assess different things 

2      such as human relations; counting, because count is really, 

3      really important in prison; report writing and incident 

4      report writing, also another important function in prison.  

5      And that's the first step.  

6           So if the candidate successfully gets through the video 

7      assessment, then their next step is actually us running 

8      criminal background and clearance checks.  If there's 

9      nothing too terribly alarming, they're invited to come to a 

10      panel interview, which, you know, is just your standard 

11      interview.  In DOC it's usually three people and they ask 

12      anywhere from seven to 12 questions.  

13           If they score high enough in the panel interview, then 

14      we do reference checks and verification of employment.  Once 

15      that's completed, they're invited to complete what we refer 

16      to as the psychological battery.  It's four written tests, 

17      multiple choice, about 700 questions and it's rated about 

18      four hours to complete.  That's scheduled on a separate day, 

19      of course.  They come in and complete that psychological 

20      battery.  

21           We also send them for drug screening at that point.  

22      And then, you know, if nothing bad comes out on the drug 

23      screening, we invite them to come for an in-person 

24      psychological interview with one of our psychologists.  Our 

25      psychologist meets with them for anywhere from 30 minutes to 
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1      an hour.  
2           And in one to ten days after that, we have a written 
3      report from the psychologist, put the packet together, send 
4      it to the superintendent, and they review it and make the 
5      decision on whether or not to make the job offer.
6                ARBITRATOR:  Did I miss the medical, the physical 
7      exam?  
8                THE WITNESS:  There's not a physical exam.
9                ARBITRATOR:  There's not a physical exam?  

10                THE WITNESS:  No.  
11                ARBITRATOR:  So if -- okay.  All right.  
12                THE WITNESS:  I could explain the history on that, 
13      if you want.
14                ARBITRATOR:  Yeah.  I'm interested.  
15                THE WITNESS:  So for a period of time, we had a 
16      physical ability test, which was part of that process.  It 
17      included a run, sit-ups, and push-ups.  And I believe it was 
18      around 2007-ish that we suspended that test temporarily, and 
19      ultimately the suspension became permanent.  Some of the 
20      reasons being it wasn't modified based on gender or age so 
21      it was pretty restrictive in who would pass.  
22           Now we don't have the physical ability test, or we call 
23      it the PAT test.  But when an employee is hired, they still 
24      have to fill out a physical ability form from their doctor, 
25      saying that they have the ability to perform certain things, 
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1      like the defensive tactics and such.  
2                ARBITRATOR:  Thanks.
3 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Now let's suppose it's an office assistant 
4      position.  What's the process?
5 A    It's pretty simple when it comes to noncustody positions.  
6      It generally involves one or two interviews, one being the 
7      panel interview.  The next one is usually smaller, you know, 
8      with your top candidates.  It does also include checking 
9      references, doing the criminal history check, and then also 

10      we have some forms that every applicant fills out with 
11      regard to the -- it's Prison Rape Elimination Act and any 
12      background from previous institutions.
13 Q    You mentioned the Prison Rape Elimination Act.  Can you tell 
14      us what that is briefly?
15 A    Sure.  It is -- it's federal law.  And there are several 
16      rules around all different kinds of topics within prison 
17      that you have follow with Prison Rape Elimination Act, but 
18      in simplest terms, it was an act or it's law, essentially, 
19      that makes any kind of sexual interaction between staff and 
20      offenders illegal.  It also addresses offender-on-offender 
21      sexual misconduct as well and says it's not okay and what 
22      goes on if it occurs.
23 Q    Did you put together some information with regard to hires 
24      and applicants for some of the larger classifications?
25 A    I did.  I worked with our recruitment team to do so, yes.
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1 Q    Could you look at Exhibit 2-13, please.  Tell us what this 

2      is.  

3 A    Sure.  What this consists of is, in our largest job classes, 

4      which are CO 1 and 2, sergeant, our licensed practical 

5      nurses, and registered nurses, the total applicant column we 

6      pulled from our application system.  It's call NEGOV, 

7      N-E-O-G-O-V, one word, and it tells the number of people who 

8      have applied for these classes.  And the new hires column we 

9      pulled from our human resources management system, or HRMS, 

10      based on code that tells us who was hired.  And this -- 

11      these numbers are reflective of fiscal year 2014.

12 Q    So that's July 1, 2013, through June 30, 2014?

13 A    Yes.

14                MR. KLEIN:  Sorry.  You were about to . . . ?  

15                ARBITRATOR:  At what point in the process do we 

16      measure total applicants?  Is the law, we opened a folder 

17      for this person, number, or is it someplace farther down the 

18      process?  

19                THE WITNESS:  This was -- these numbers are people 

20      who went into electronic application system and applied to a 

21      job posting.  

22                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  Thanks.  And do we have any 

23      measure of the applicants farther down the process?  

24           Here's my concern:  In doing police cases, it always 

25      turns out that there are hundreds of applicants for every 
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1      police opening.  And it also always turns out that roughly 
2      half of those learned all about policing from sitting in the 
3      back of the car in cuffs.  
4           So I'm always a little bit concerned about numbers that 
5      tell me the raw front of the process versus the total number 
6      of hires.  And I'm sort of interested if we have a measure 
7      that would eliminate the people who learned all about 
8      corrections from the five years that they spent inside and 
9      they thought it would be a really nice job.  

10                THE WITNESS:  I actually do not know.  I know 
11      there are certain -- I mean, at each step of the process, 
12      you could be knocked out based on if you don't score high 
13      enough or what might be reflected in your drug screen test.
14                ARBITRATOR:  Do we have, for example, numbers of 
15      the lists that got sent to the superintendents?  
16                THE WITNESS:  No.
17 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Now, have you also put together some 
18      information on turnover?
19 A    Yes.
20 Q    Can you look at -- let's see.  I'll skip 2-14 because that's 
21      done by someone else.  Is 2-14, is that -- did that come 
22      from State HR?
23 A    Yes.
24 Q    So we'll talk with someone else about that.  
25           How about 2-15?
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1 A    I don't think that's mine either.

2 Q    How about 2-16?

3 A    This is familiar to me, sir.

4 Q    Good.  Then let's talk about 2-16, shall we?  

5 A    Sure.  This is an internal document prepared, again, by our 

6      statewide HR Operations Unit.  And it reflects turnover 

7      information for the last three fiscal years, again, in our 

8      larger job classes and then also agency as a whole.  

9           What is reflected in each column is, you know, the job 

10      class, the number of employees in that class, the number of 

11      separations in that fiscal year and then, you know, 

12      essentially what the turnover percentage is.  

13           So for our internal turnover tracking, we do include 

14      employees who leave us to go to another state agency, which 

15      is a significant difference between our internal tracking 

16      and what State HR does because, you know, for Department 

17      internally when people leave permanent positions, it -- for 

18      other agencies it is a loss to our agency.

19 Q    So if someone is an OA 2 in corrections and sees a posting 

20      at some other State agency for an OA 3 and gets that 

21      posting, that shows as a separation in your data?

22 A    Yes.

23                ARBITRATOR:  How about somebody who is a 

24      corrections officer working inside and shifts to a community 

25      corrections position?  
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1                THE WITNESS:  Internal movement of that kind would 
2      be reflected.
3                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  Is that common, a fairly 
4      common sort of shift?  
5                THE WITNESS:  From corrections officer to 
6      community corrections officer I would not say is super 
7      common, but it does happen.  Often what we'll see is maybe a 
8      corrections officer shifting to a classification counselor, 
9      so staying in the prison system -- 

10                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  Got you.  
11                THE WITNESS:  -- and shifting duties.  
12                ARBITRATOR:  And nurses, these numbers don't 
13      distinguish between the LPN's and the RN's?  
14                THE WITNESS:  No.  They're together.  
15 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  And you've provided that for three different 
16      years?
17 A    Yes.
18 Q    Three different fiscal years, excuse me.  
19 A    Yes.
20 Q    Is turnover something the Department works on to try and 
21      minimize, to the greatest extent you can?
22 A    We do.  Especially in our corrections officer job 
23      classification and in our nurse classifications because we 
24      have had periods in the past where turnover is -- or was 
25      higher than what's reflected here.  
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1           One of the -- I don't know -- good things, I guess, 

2      that came out of the recession was a dip in turnover for 

3      Department of Corrections.  And we've gotten better at 

4      recruiting and hiring too, but . . .

5 Q    Is there a -- I think you mentioned that for the corrections 

6      officers you're required to have a high school degree or GED 

7      equivalent.  Did I get that right?

8 A    Um-hmm -- yes.

9 Q    Is there a requirement of some kind for the community 

10      correction officer or the CCO with regard to level of 

11      education?

12 A    Yes.  They have to have a bachelor's degree.

13 Q    Now I would like you to move forward in the notebook, if you 

14      could, to Exhibit 4-13.  

15 A    (Witness complies.)

16 Q    Could you tell us what this is, please?

17 A    I can.  It is a spreadsheet that includes, again, all the 

18      Teamsters represented job classes in the Department, but it 

19      is color coded to reflect in green those job classes where 

20      we have staff who supervise and in orange job classes where 

21      we have staff who supervise one or more employees in lower 

22      level of that particular job class series.  

23           And the color code legend is actually on the last page 

24      so you don't have to remember that.  So those in orange 

25      supervise but also supervise one or more employees in a 
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1      lower class.
2 Q    Let's make sure I understand this.  Let's start with the 
3      administrative assistant and -- so let me back up a step.   
4           Is it correct that the Teamsters have made a proposal 
5      within a series to have a five range bump or spread between 
6      a 1 and a 2 and a 2 and a 3?
7 A    That's my understanding, yes.
8 Q    So let's just go through administrative assistants so we can 
9      understand what's in here.  So currently the range of 

10      administrative assistant 1 is a range 32?
11 A    Yes.
12 Q    And so if the 2 is a 35 and my math is correct, that sounds 
13      like we currently have a three range difference between 
14      them?
15 A    Yes.
16 Q    And similar, there's a four range difference between the 2 
17      and the 3?
18 A    Yes.  Which is approximately 10 percent.
19 Q    Can you then go -- there's some notes.  So administrative 
20      assistant 2?
21                ARBITRATOR:  Does this mean a range is about 2 and 
22      a half percent?  
23                THE WITNESS:  Yes, each range progresses.  
24                MR. THAL:  Yes.
25                ARBITRATOR:  Thanks.
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1 A    So in this case, administrative assistant 2 is at the -- is 
2      at pay scale 35.  And what my note here reflects is that we 
3      have one of our administrative assistant 2's who supervises 
4      an office assistant 3.
5 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  And so the other 34 don't supervise?
6 A    Well, I don't know that we have 34 admin assistant 2's.
7                MR. THAL:  That's a range.  
8                MR. KLEIN:  I'm sorry.  Right, right.  My bad.
9 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Let me go -- I need to -- could you look at 

10      Exhibit 2-7 for me, please?
11 A    Yes.
12 Q    And so how many 2's are there, administrative assistant 2's?
13 A    Sixteen.
14 Q    And so while you're at it, how many 3's?
15 A    Twenty-four.
16 Q    So now let's go fast-forward back to 4-13.  
17 A    So if you compare -- so essentially what this -- what 4-13 
18      tells us about administrative assistant 2's is that, out of 
19      the 16 that we have that are Teamsters represented, one of 
20      them is a supervisor and that one supervises an office 
21      assistant 3.  In this particular case, office assistant 3 is 
22      a pay range 31.  So, again, there's approximately a         
23      10 percent spread.
24 Q    And similarly, the administrative assistant 3's there are, I 
25      think you said, 24 of those?

Page 365

1 A    Yes.

2 Q    And then can you just walk us through the note on that one 

3      so we make sure we've got the nomenclature here?

4 A    Sure.  I'll decode the Angela note here.  The six means that 

5      of the 24, there are six who supervise.  Those six supervise 

6      a combination of administrative assistant 2, secretary 

7      senior, and office assistant 3.  

8 Q    And is the same coding or, Angela coding I think you have 

9      might have referred to it as -- 

10 A    It's a technical term, yes.

11 Q    Yes.  -- done all the way down on the notes column?

12 A    Yes.

13 Q    I don't want you to go through each one, but if you could 

14      sort of look at them, and if there's any that you reviewed 

15      that you think we might not understand when we're sitting at 

16      home and looking at our notebooks, if you could just tell us 

17      what that is.  

18 A    Sure.  I did do some abbreviating.  You can usually decipher 

19      what the abbreviating is based on this list because all of 

20      the job classes are reflected in this list, but let's see.  

21      For example, if you go down to correctional records 

22      supervisor, it's just above halfway down the first page, 

23      you'll see it's a range 48.  It's in orange.  

24           There are ten correctional records supervisors who 

25      supervise CRT 1, which is a correctional records   
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1      technician 1.  It's in the same job class series as the 
2      records supervisor CRT 2, which is a correctional records 
3      technician 2, again in the same class series.  And then 
4      office assistant 3, which is OA 3, and sec sr is secretary 
5      senior.
6 Q    Now, going down to correction and custody officer 3, it 
7      looks like there's an "all" there in the note?
8 A    Yes.
9 Q    That means -- can I interpret that as meaning that all of 

10      them are doing -- as sergeants they all have supervisory 
11      responsibilities?
12 A    Yes.  In looking at this, my apologies, that should be 
13      orange.  I missed making that one orange because they do 
14      supervise corrections and custody officer 2's, which are in 
15      the same class series.
16 Q    Any others, looking at the next couple of pages, that you 
17      want to decode for us?
18 A    You know, when you get into some of the mental health and 
19      medical classifications, so at the bottom of the second 
20      page, psychologist 4, which is in orange, PSW 3 is 
21      psychiatric social worker 3.  CMHC 2 and 3 is correctional 
22      mental health counselor.  Most of them are just the first 
23      letter of each word in the job class.
24 Q    Okay.  
25                ARBITRATOR:  Angela, would it be a huge problem to 
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1      generate a version of this chart that gave me a column of 
2      the classification population?  
3                THE WITNESS:  No.  I could put that together for 
4      you.  It would take me a little bit of time but I do could 
5      it probably by the end of the day.
6                ARBITRATOR:  Like the end of the week, that would 
7      be wonderful.
8                THE WITNESS:  I can definitely do it by the end of 
9      the week.

10                ARBITRATOR:  I would appreciate that so I don't 
11      have to flip.
12 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Do you want to write a note to yourself?
13                THE WITNESS:  You just want the number within the 
14      classification?  
15                ARBITRATOR:  Yes.
16                THE WITNESS:  Is there anything else you want on 
17      there?  
18                ARBITRATOR:  So then I would be able to look at it 
19      and say, so 20 out, you know, of 47 -- 
20                THE WITNESS:  Sure.
21                ARBITRATOR:  -- of these people have supervisory 
22      responsibilities.
23                THE WITNESS:  Can I borrow a pen real quick?  
24      Thank you.  
25 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Ms. Roberts, as part of your job, do you 
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1      ever get into situations where someone has or communicates 

2      with you about concerns related to stress or pressures or 

3      family issues or whatever?

4 A    I do.  I would say that I encountered it much more as a 

5      human resources consultant and human resources manager in a 

6      general human resources office than I do in my current role, 

7      other than anything that might come to me from my own staff 

8      of course.  But, yeah.  I mean, people are people.  They 

9      have problems or questions or . . .

10 Q    When that happens, what have you done?

11 A    Well, I'm going to give you the standard HR answer, which 

12      is, it depends.  But when they come in with problems with, 

13      you know, their personal life or addiction or with their 

14      kids, it -- oftentimes we refer them to, you know, the Staff 

15      Counselor Program or the Employee Assistance Program.  

16      Sometimes, depending on the particular situation, we might 

17      refer them to our Reasonable Accommodation Program or Family 

18      Medical Leave, but depending on what the issue is, we'll 

19      refer to the staff counselor or EAP.

20 Q    Just a moment.  I need to find an exhibit.  It's going to 

21      take me a minute.  

22           You're aware that the proposal of the Teamsters would 

23      move everybody in that unit up 10 percent over sort of what 

24      I'll call a corrections bump -- 

25 A    Yes.
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1 Q    -- proposal?

2 A    Um-hmm.

3 Q    With regard to the -- that proposal, do you have any 

4      concerns?

5 A    A few.  Really I would say largest concern would be, we do 

6      have several employees who work within a job that's 

7      represented by Teamsters that are in a classification that 

8      are elsewhere in the agency.  

9           So from an agency standpoint, we literally could have 

10      two employees sitting next to each other doing the same work 

11      and getting paid differently for it.  So from my 

12      perspective, an equity issue, I would say, would be my 

13      biggest concern.

14 Q    With regard to healthcare -- I'm going to switch gears for 

15      just a moment.  

16 A    Okay.

17 Q    -- did you try and put together or look at what the amount 

18      of the -- that employees in this unit are paying for 

19      healthcare?

20 A    I did.  I talked to our assistant comptroller.  He oversees 

21      our payroll area.  And they were able to pull together some 

22      information based on our last payroll run, so our last 

23      payroll period, with regard to our employees.  And the 

24      average per month amount that our employees pay for their 

25      healthcare coverage is about $150 a month.  And that really 
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1      is an average.

2 Q    Have you ever heard the phrase 3 percent vacancy?

3 A    I have.  For several years now.

4 Q    Tell me what that is.  

5 A    We have a mandated -- it's internally mandated.  By 

6      "internal," I mean it's agency required 3 percent vacancy 

7      rate within our agency in job classifications that are not 

8      mandatory fill, which essentially is most of our noncustody 

9      job classes, excluding cooks and healthcare providers.  

10 Q    So custody, cooks, and healthcare -- 

11 A    Yes.

12 Q    -- doesn't apply?  

13           The others it does?

14 A    It does.  And it was a cost savings strategy that I believe 

15      went into effect around 2009.  My memory isn't precise on 

16      the year that it was put in place, but it's been an 

17      effective strategy in reducing costs without having to lay 

18      off as many people.

19                MR. KLEIN:  Can I have just a moment to look 

20      through, but I believe I'm done.  

21                ARBITRATOR:  Sure.  

22                MR. KLEIN:  I have nothing further.  Thank you.  

23                ARBITRATOR:  Was the 3 percent vacancy policy, if 

24      you know -- you may or may not remember -- was that a 

25      consequence of a cram down announcement that the agency was 
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1      going to trim its budget by some minimum required amount?  
2                THE WITNESS:  I actually don't know.  
3                ARBITRATOR:  Thought you might.  
4           Dan, you ready?  
5                MR. SWEDLOW:  No.  I need a few minutes.  Five, 
6      ten minutes.
7                ARBITRATOR:  Ten?  
8                MR. SWEDLOW:  Yes.  
9                                     (Recessed at 10:05 a.m.)

10                                     (Reconvened at 10:24 a.m.)
11                ARBITRATOR:  Back on the record, returning to 
12      cross.
13                         CROSS EXAMINATION
14 BY MR. SWEDLOW: 
15 Q    Angela, you were asked to do some additional work for the 
16      arbitrator to populate Exhibit 4-13.  And then when you're 
17      doing that, I'm actually going to ask you to do a little bit 
18      additional work.  Let's take a look at this, which I believe 
19      was Exhibit 57.  
20                ARBITRATOR:  It's a new sense of taking over the 
21      witness.  
22                MR. KLEIN:  I guess.
23 Q    (By Mr. Swedlow)  Actually, all I really want you to do is 
24      just confirm that I'm right.  I think that these are the 
25      classifications in which all of the incumbents supervised.  
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1      Can you take a look at this and just confirm that that's 
2      right, that this represents a list of classifications where 
3      everybody supervises?
4 A    Do you want me to do that now --
5 Q    No, no.
6 A    -- or do you want me to do that in updating this document?  
7 Q    When you're updating the document, indicate that, but can 
8      you just take a quick look and tell me if that's accurate?
9 A    I don't know if it's accurate, yeah, without comparing the 

10      two.
11 Q    Okay.  
12 A    Although you -- you do list psychiatric social worker and we 
13      have 3's and 4's.  So I'm not sure if this is referring -- 
14      which level this is referring to.
15 Q    So we'll have to find that.  
16                MR. KLEIN:  I love the way you're giving him 
17      homework now.  
18                MR. SWEDLOW:  Yeah.  That's fine.
19                THE WITNESS:  You get what you get.  Sorry.
20 Q    (By Mr. Swedlow)  So would you agree, though, that there 
21      are -- there are some classifications where the job 
22      description has, as an essential function of the job, 
23      supervision, even if -- supervising somebody else even if 
24      the incumbent in that position does not actually supervise 
25      anybody?  
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1           So, for example, CC 3's, classification counselor 3's, 
2      that job description requires supervision as an essential 
3      function of the job, even if there's not a particular person 
4      in that role that they're supervising.  Right?
5 A    I would actually disagree with you on that.
6 Q    How so?
7 A    If I recall correctly, the job specifications for the 
8      classification counselor 3 contemplate the ability to 
9      supervise or a specialized caseload.  So what I mean by 

10      that, I guess, for -- like to put a real life example is, a 
11      portion of our classification counselor 3's do supervise and 
12      then a portion of them do not.  
13           And in those cases, it would likely be tied to having a 
14      specialized caseload of some kind.  So that job class 
15      doesn't require supervision, but there are some that do.  I 
16      don't know what they all are.
17 Q    So there are some where the job classification, even if the 
18      person is not actually supervising at the time, they may 
19      well be called upon to supervise, right, by virtue of their 
20      job class?
21 A    That is accurate, yes.
22 Q    Is it also accurate that maybe one of the reasons they're 
23      not supervising at the time is because of that 3 percent 
24      vacancy rate?  For example, office assistant, you may    
25      have -- and I don't know off the top of my head the 
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1      classification, but you may have an office assistant job 
2      that would normally be supervising let's say it's an office 
3      assistant 3.  Could be wrong about that.  But an office 
4      assistant 3 who is supposed to supervise an office  
5      assistant 1, but because of the 3 percent vacancy, there's 
6      no office assistant 1.  Is that hypothetically one of 
7      reasons somebody might not be supervising?
8 A    Hypothetically, it could be.
9 Q    Okay.  

10 A    That particular example I don't know because . . .
11 Q    Right.  Okay.  
12                ARBITRATOR:  So here's my puzzle about the line of 
13      inquiry.  Class specs, even more than particular job 
14      descriptions, frequently list supervision as an important 
15      potential characteristic of jobs and assignments within a 
16      class.  
17           And that's a sort of -- you know, one of a handful of 
18      automatic let's think about this again, triggering additions 
19      to a class that a union, if all of a sudden a class has 
20      added to it a supervision requirement, you're very likely to 
21      start knocking on the door, saying let's talk about the rate 
22      for this class because you have added to the class 
23      requirement something that's substantial.  
24           The fact that the class includes supervision doesn't 
25      necessarily mean that everybody in the class is actually 
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1      assigned supervisory duties.  It simply means that, if 
2      you're in that class, you could be assigned supervisory 
3      duties and that's part of the expectations for the class.  
4      Don't expect more money for it.
5                MR. SWEDLOW:  Right, right.  
6                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  So against that background, 
7      I'm a little, you know, perplexed by the line of inquiry.
8                MR. SWEDLOW:  Just to clarify then that line 
9      inquiry, what I'm really asking is, isn't it true that there 

10      are people who may well be called upon to supervise, even if 
11      they're not currently supervising in those job 
12      classifications?  
13                ARBITRATOR:  Doesn't this come under the heading 
14      of well, duh?  If the job class lists supervision as a 
15      characteristic of the class, that means that anybody in a 
16      job in that classification could be called upon to 
17      supervise, whether or not he or she is currently doing that.
18                THE WITNESS:  Yes.  If by those classes -- 
19                ARBITRATOR:  That's my problem.  It seems it's 
20      sort of a well, duh, kind of response.  If the class lists 
21      supervision, then somebody in a job in that class could be 
22      assigned to supervise.  
23           Let's move on.  
24                MR. SWEDLOW:  All right.  We'll move on.
25 Q    (By Mr. Swedlow)  So looking back at Exhibit 57 that 
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1      we're -- you asked a question about the psychiatric social 

2      worker, it's actually the psychiatric social worker 4, to 

3      make that a little bit easier, not the 3.  That's the one 

4      that you coded as orange on Exhibit 4-13, I think.  

5 A    Okay.
6 Q    Is that right?

7 A    Yes.
8 Q    Will you turn to Exhibit 2-9 in this book.  

9 A    2-9?  
10 Q    Yes.  

11 A    Sure.
12 Q    Were you here for Scott Frakes' testimony a couple days ago?

13 A    Yes.
14 Q    Do you remember him saying that, when you look at this list 

15      here, it was somewhere in the neighborhood of less than    

16      100 people who were at headquarters and most of the -- or 

17      headquarters or other facilities that did not have inmates, 

18      that the vast majority of these Teamsters employees, in 

19      fact, worked at prisons, in and around prisons.  So even if 

20      they're on the outside of the secured perimeter, they're 

21      working at a prison.  Right?

22 A    I do recall that discussion between you and Mr. Frakes, yes.
23 Q    Would you agree with that, that most -- that less than     

24      100 of these workers are working at headquarters or other 

25      places where there are no inmates, no offenders?
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1 A    Without sounding difficult, I would want to do the math 

2      myself to agree that it's less than 100, but I will agree 

3      that the vast majority work in prison.

4 Q    I'm not going to ask you to do the math yourself.  Turning 

5      back one exhibit to 2-8, would you agree then that all 

6      of the -- I think you mentioned that all of these 

7      classifications that are not pink or green are 

8      essentially -- did you say that they're nonuniformed, 

9      noncustody staff or was that not the case?  

10 A    No.  Actually what I said -- I mean, it's likely that they 

11      are not custody staff.  But what I said was that those that 

12      are not in color are classifications that are not unique to 

13      the Department.

14 Q    Right.  So, for example, there are office assistant 2's and 

15      3's around the state working in a variety of other agencies?

16 A    Actually, this is -- I'm sorry.  I have to correct myself.  

17      The white ones -- sorry.  The ones that are not in color are 

18      not classifications that are solely represented because 

19      there are correctional records technicians on here, and 

20      correctional records technicians are unique to Department of 

21      Corrections.

22 Q    So those should be green?

23 A    They should be green.

24 Q    But that's -- is that an exception?  So a mail processing 

25      driver --
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1 A    Yes.
2 Q    -- a procurement supply specialist -- 

3 A    My apologies.
4 Q    -- most these ones in white you would find in other state 

5      agencies as well.  Right?

6 A    Yes.
7 Q    And I think you were also here for testimony about -- I 

8      think you even mentioned that most, if not all, of these 

9      people will go through core training.  Right?

10 A    Yes, if they work in a prison.
11 Q    Right.  And so because we just discovered from 2-9 that the 

12      vast majority of them do, in fact, work in the prisons, most 

13      of these workers do, in fact, go through core and their 

14      daily activities involve being around offenders.  Right?

15 A    I would say most likely.
16 Q    You would agree that that's a different -- that adds a 

17      different level of stress and responsibility to the job of, 

18      for example, let's say, a warehouse operator working at the 

19      Department of Corrections with offenders helping him or her 

20      in the warehouse as opposed to, say, a warehouse worker 

21      working for the Department of Transportation or something?

22 A    I'm sorry.  I don't know.
23 Q    You're only familiar with Department of Corrections?

24 A    Yes.
25 Q    But you would agree that working around offenders working in 
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1      that environment carries with it a whole set of risks and 

2      stress that is unique to that environment?

3 A    In my own experience working at a prison facility, I can 
4      tell you it is an environment that is different than other 
5      I've worked in, so I can tell you that.
6 Q    You mentioned, when you were talking about the premium that 

7      the Teamsters are asking for, you mentioned a concern about 

8      having two employees sitting next to each other and 

9      performing the exact same work and one of them making more 

10      as a result of that.  

11           Do you remember that?

12 A    Yes.
13 Q    I think you said you had several employees who you were 

14      concerned about.  Is there anybody working inside the 

15      secured perimeter of the prison facility where that would be 

16      an issue?

17 A    I would say, in some of our support staff job 
18      classifications, it could be an issue.  For example, 
19      administrative assistant 3's, we do have some administrative 
20      assistant 3's who are represented working inside the fence, 
21      and we also have some who are not nonrepresented working 
22      inside the fence at our prison facilities, so that would be 
23      an example of on prison grounds different representational 
24      status.
25 Q    Do you know, off the top of your head, how many 
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1      nonrepresented office administrative -- did you say office 
2      administrative?  
3 A    Administrative assistant.
4 Q    Administrative assistants.  -- nonrepresented administrative 
5      assistants working inside the secured perimeter of a prison?
6 A    I do not.
7 Q    Do you know where?
8 A    Like what prison?  
9 Q    Yeah.  What prison?

10 A    Stafford Creek would be one.
11 Q    Stafford Creek.  
12           Anywhere else that you know of?
13 A    For sure, no.  I would be speculating.
14                ARBITRATOR:  What would the nonrep employee be 
15      doing?  
16                THE WITNESS:  In the administrative assistant 3 
17      classification, one who is nonrepresented would be providing 
18      direct support to one of our associate superintendents, so 
19      they -- 
20                ARBITRATOR:  Classified -- confidential position 
21      basically in the technical labor sense of confidential?  
22      Involved in -- 
23                THE WITNESS:  Yeah.
24                ARBITRATOR:  -- supporting the superintendent in 
25      his or her dealing with the union?  
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1                THE WITNESS:  Yes.
2 Q    (By Mr. Swedlow)  Looking at this green zone on 2-8, would 
3      you agree that the vast majority of corrections and custody 
4      officers are represented by Teamsters and not WFSE?  That's 
5      a very small group?
6 A    Yes.
7 Q    And they're two completely different classifications, right?  
8      CCO's and -- the correction officers and the community 
9      corrections officers -- we've heard some talk about that -- 

10      those are not only two different bargaining units, but two 
11      very different kinds of work.  Right?
12 A    Yes.
13 Q    You may not have -- 
14                ARBITRATOR:  I didn't notice the WFSE reference on 
15      this exhibit before, but what does that mean in the 
16      corrections mental health counselor and corrections?  And 
17      custody officer 2 and 3, we got a WFSE over to the right of 
18      the exhibit itself.  Does that mean that the WFSE also 
19      represents employees in that classification?  
20                THE WITNESS:  Yes.
21                ARBITRATOR:  But the numbers in the count column 
22      are bargaining unit numbers?  
23                THE WITNESS:  Teamsters, yes.
24                ARBITRATOR:  Thank you.
25 Q    (By Mr. Swedlow)  So does that mean you're saying the 
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1      corrections mental health counselor 3, there are 11 

2      Teamsters?

3 A    Yes, sir.

4 Q    Do you know how many members are represented -- not members.  

5      Well, they are members.  How many Federation members there 

6      are in that classification?

7 A    In that classification, I do not.

8 Q    How about in corrections and custody officer 2?

9 A    In corrections and custody officer 2, the Federation, or 

10      WFSE, represents approximately 45.

11 Q    And how about corrections and custody officer 3?

12 A    That one, I'm not sure of.

13 Q    So you think it's about 45 in CO 2.  Is it the same in 

14      percentage terms, do you think?

15 A    I'm sorry.  I don't -- 

16 Q    In terms of -- 

17 A    I don't understand.

18 Q    If there's -- I'm not going to do the math.  I'm not even 

19      going to try, but, you know, 45 percent of -- I'm sorry.  

20      Not 45.  45 is what percent of 3,089?  In other words, 

21      there's 3,089 Teamster CCO 2's.  45 of those are -- 45 

22      Federation, 3,089 Teamsters.  

23           Do you think that the percentage is around the same for 

24      the CCO 3's?  So there's 405 Teamsters and, therefore, some 

25      fairly small number?
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1 A    I know that -- I don't know percentage-wise.  I know that 
2      there is a small number of CO 3's or sergeants represented 
3      by the Federation.
4                ARBITRATOR:  Span a supervision of sergeant likely 
5      to be very different between the Federation unit and the 
6      Teamsters unit?  
7                THE WITNESS:  I would say supervising CO 2's would 
8      be the same.  The number of CO 2's supervised, yes, is 
9      likely quite different.

10                MR. SWEDLOW:  I don't have anything further.  
11                ARBITRATOR:  Redirect?  
12                        REDIRECT EXAMINATION
13 BY MR. KLEIN: 
14 Q    Are you aware or do you know whether there are any 
15      correctional record techs at the state patrol?  
16 A    I'm not.  
17 Q    You were asked some questions about I think it was a 
18      warehouse operator, was it not?
19                ARBITRATOR:  I don't remember that one.
20                MR. KLEIN:  Was not a warehouse operator.  
21           I have nothing further.  
22                ARBITRATOR:  Dan?  
23           Thank very much for your time.  
24           Who is next?  
25                MR. KLEIN:  Ann Mitchell.  

Page 384

1 ANN MITCHELL,               having been first duly sworn,
2                             testified as follows: 
3           
4                ARBITRATOR:  Please spell your name for us.
5                THE WITNESS:  Ann, A-n-n, Mitchell, 
6      M-i-t-c-h-e-l-l.
7                         DIRECT EXAMINATION
8 BY MR. KLEIN:  
9 Q    Who do you work for, Ms. Mitchell?

10 A    I work for the Office of Financial Management in the State 
11      Human Resources Division, Labor Relations Section.
12 Q    Can you tell us what you do?
13 A    I'm a labor negotiator.
14 Q    How long have you been there?
15 A    I joined the office in 2007.  Prior to that, I was an HR 
16      consultant in the Department of Transportation.
17 Q    And are you involved in negotiations involving corrections?
18 A    I am.
19 Q    And tell us a little bit about what you do.  
20 A    Well, my history is in -- I was assigned to the    
21      Corrections -- or Teamsters table in 2012.  I negotiated the 
22      current 2013-'15 agreement, and I had the pleasure of 
23      getting that assignment this time for '15-'17 agreement.  I 
24      serve as the lead negotiator for the State on that contract.
25 Q    Before we jump any further, are you -- I had asked a 
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1      question of Ms. Roberts about correctional records techs and 
2      whether there are any at the state patrol.  
3           Do you know whether there are or are not?
4 A    There are, yes.
5 Q    Could you take the white book, which is in front of you, and 
6      go back to 4-20.  
7 A    There's nothing in 4-20.
8 Q    That's a problem.  
9                ARBITRATOR:  Off the record.

10                                     (Recessed at 10:45 a.m.)
11                                     (Reconvened at 10:47 a.m.)
12                ARBITRATOR:  Back on the record after a couple 
13      minutes, and now we actually have a 4-20 in the witness 
14      book.  
15 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Can you tell us what this is?
16 A    This is a document created in the State Human Resources 
17      Office that goes back to looks like February 1st of 1962 
18      that details the compensation for, it says, general 
19      government and higher education, so the specific increases 
20      that State employees, including higher education, have 
21      received over a span of many, many years.
22 Q    And when was the Civil Service Reform that resulted in wage 
23      bargaining for employees in the union?
24 A    That became effective with our first agreement on 7/1/2005.
25 Q    And so focusing on the period post 7/1/2005, has there been 
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1      an effort to try to have some consistency, to the greatest 
2      extent possible, within classifications and various 
3      bargaining groups and units?
4 A    Yes, there has.
5 Q    I would like to turn your attention to -- we'll switch.  If 
6      you could stick that in there, that would be great.  
7 A    Sure.
8 Q    It's Exhibit 4-11.  I think we've effectively come to call 
9      this the twister exhibit.  

10                ARBITRATOR:  Is there a blowup?  
11                MR. KLEIN:  What that's?  
12                ARBITRATOR:  Is there a blowup on plastic for -- 
13                MR. KLEIN:  We'll work on that.
14                THE WITNESS:  God help us.
15                MR. KLEIN:  We'll work on that.  Like your left 
16      arm.
17 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Do you have that in front of you?
18 A    I do.
19 Q    Could you sort of walk us through this, Ms. Mitchell?
20 A    Sure.  This is high level overview of the Washington State 
21      collective bargaining process.  These are some of the -- the 
22      circles represent the different categories of either 
23      contracts or employees that we have.  
24           And so as we look at the general government bubble or 
25      circle in the top left-hand corner, that's bargaining 
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1      governed by RCW 41.80.  You see in the circle there's seven 

2      master agreements.  

3           A master agreement is any union that has over 500 

4      bargaining unit members gets their own master agreement.  

5      That master agreement may have several agencies attached to 

6      it.  Such as we have -- a very small example is at the 

7      Department of Transportation, there's DOT, state patrol, and 

8      licensing employees attached to one agreement, so a shared 

9      agreement, if you will.  

10           We have seven supplemental agreements.  It covers 22 

11      unions, 38 agencies, and approximately 42,000 State 

12      employees.  I will note in this bubble we have two groups 

13      that have interest arbitration attached to them.  One of 

14      them is the Teamsters and the other one is DOC employees 

15      represented by the Federation.  

16           Next you'll find higher education, same RCW.  However, 

17      higher education has an option whether or not to contract 

18      with our office.  We currently have two master agreements.  

19      They're with the community colleges, two unions.  4,500 

20      employees are affected.  

21           Ferries over on the right, different collective 

22      bargaining law, 47.64.  Its employees work at the Department 

23      of Transportation/Ferries, 11 agreements, 14 unions, and 

24      1,700 employees.  So a lot of agreements, a relatively small 

25      number of employees in that group.  
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1           Down in the right corner, non-State employees.  These 

2      are independent contractors.  And for the purposes of 

3      collective bargaining, wages, training, some very limited 

4      scope of bargaining.  We bargain with these employees, four 

5      agreements, four unions, numerous providers, 3,800 -- 38,000 

6      providers and 2,600 adult family homes.  

7           With the Healthcare Coalition, this is bargaining that 

8      one table to negotiate, again, a limited scope of bargaining 

9      affecting general government employees, higher ed, and 

10      ferries.  

11           And then finally we have a law enforcement table.  This 

12      is our state patrol unit, the troopers and the lieutenants, 

13      under RCW 41.56, two agreements with interest arbitration, 

14      two unions, under the state patrol, 1,100 employees.

15                ARBITRATOR:  They're not covered by the Healthcare 

16      Coalition?  

17                THE WITNESS:  That's actually a good question.  I 

18      don't know the answer to that, but that is an interesting 

19      dynamic.  I don't know the answer.

20                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  

21 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Have you ever heard the phrase, a vertical 

22      bargaining unit, as opposed to a horizontal bargaining unit?

23 A    I have.

24 Q    What does that mean, as you understand it?

25 A    The way I use that phrase is, a vertical bargaining unit is 
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1      such that you can draw lines up and down.  And you may have 

2      a unit, for example, in the Department of Transportation 

3      that has office assistants, administrative assistants, IT, 

4      maintenance workers.  

5           And you also may find that same type or those same 

6      classifications in another agency.  So silos, if you will, 

7      versus I believe in other states, perhaps all of your IT 

8      professionals are in one unit and all of your corrections 

9      employees across multiple agencies, if that actually 

10      existed, were in the same -- separate unit.  So State of 

11      Washington, we have vertical units.

12 Q    Does that create some challenges for you in terms of the 

13      State in terms of bargaining?

14 A    Yeah.  There are challenges there in that I think that we've 

15      talked about before with Angela's testimony, you have 

16      employees, same classification represented by two different 

17      units, perhaps two different working conditions.  And it's, 

18      you know -- whereas generally an employer likes to have 

19      equality and some assurance that employees are treated the 

20      same.  There could be some differences there.

21 Q    Now, up in the general government when you were describing 

22      the upper left-hand circle in twister, you indicated that 

23      there were two groups that had interest arbitration, and I 

24      think you said one was the Teamsters and the other was the 

25      Federation State employees with regard to -- and that's in 
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1      DOC?

2 A    Yes.

3 Q    Did I get that right?

4 A    Yes, you did.

5 Q    Was that also pursuant to an MOU?

6 A    The -- 

7 Q    That is the Federation, not the Teamsters.  

8 A    Yes.  The DOC -- Federation, DOC employees also have an MOU 

9      granting them interest arbitration as an impasse procedure.

10 Q    Has the Department reached any sort of agreement with the 

11      Federation?

12 A    The parties have come to an agreement on the proposal at the 

13      table, so bargaining is concluded.  They did not go to 

14      interest arbitration.

15 Q    And can you tell us briefly -- don't want to know all -- 

16 A    Right.

17 Q    -- the various bit, but the big picture what the settlement 

18      was?

19 A    Certainly.  High level, of course, one of the things that 

20      the Federation was interested in, as we have been talking 

21      about, you have a Federation and a Teamster employee sitting 

22      side by side in the same classification.  They wanted 

23      equality with the pay range that the Teamsters have, which 

24      is 1.3 percent higher than the Federation.  So that was one 

25      point at issue.  That was granted to the Federation.  
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1           There was also various increases due to recruitment, 
2      retention or increased duties or just classification changes 
3      that either a 2 and a half or a 5 percent increase to 
4      specific employees.  
5           There was an increase in defensive tactics, firearms, 
6      and instructor pay.  There was a bump in that hourly range.  
7      There was not a general wage increase asked by the 
8      Federation.  That issue itself for general wage would return 
9      to the master agreement table to be settled at that forum.  

10                ARBITRATOR:  I don't understand -- 
11                THE WITNESS:  So -- 
12                ARBITRATOR:  -- the wage bit.  
13                THE WITNESS:  Right.  
14                ARBITRATOR:  So I don't know what return to the 
15      master table means.  Does that mean that there's still a 
16      wage increase possible?  
17                THE WITNESS:  Right.
18                ARBITRATOR:  It just didn't happen at that 
19      particular table?  
20                THE WITNESS:  Yes.
21                ARBITRATOR:  So unlike these negotiations, which 
22      are pretty well wrapped up here, the WFSE MOU carved out a 
23      portion of the universe of bargaining to go on separately 
24      and be subject to interest arbitration and left other parts 
25      of the bargaining relationship to happen at the WFSE master 
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1      table?  
2                THE WITNESS:  Correct.  
3                ARBITRATOR:  And what else was I going to ask you?  
4      When you said -- I was holding my breath waiting to hear the 
5      dreaded term "me too," and I didn't hear it.  So the WFSE 
6      MOU did not result in a me too agreement with respect to the 
7      Teamster bargaining?  
8                MR. KLEIN:  You don't mean the MOU, do you?  You 
9      mean the settlement agreement?  

10                ARBITRATOR:  The bargaining under the MOU.
11                MR. KLEIN:  Right.  The settlement agreement.
12                THE WITNESS:  It did not.
13                ARBITRATOR:  And when you say they caught up to 
14      the 1.3 percent lag behind the Teamster bargaining unit, 
15      does that mean that there was a general catch-up agreement, 
16      sort of a kind of a sort of me too, or simply that they got 
17      1.3 percent?  
18                THE WITNESS:  They got 1.3 percent.
19                ARBITRATOR:  Thank you.  
20 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Could you for a moment look back at -- 
21                ARBITRATOR:  Could we possibly get the MOU for the 
22      WFSE bargaining because that's sort of -- I don't have the 
23      best of grips -- 
24                THE WITNESS:  Yes.
25                ARBITRATOR:  -- on how that cookie was cut.  
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1                MR. KLEIN:  We can do that.  
2 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  So let's turn to the proposal that the DOC 
3      is making in this proceeding.  That's going to be back at 
4      the beginning of the notebook.  I think it's going to be 1-2 
5      or 1 -- it's going to be 1-3.  
6           Before I go there, I did have one further 
7      clarification.  Is the 1.3 percent that you mentioned for 
8      the WFSE, the Federation, is that for corrections specific 
9      titles?

10 A    Yes.
11 Q    So it wouldn't apply to -- well, I'll get at it a different 
12      way.  
13           So do you have the proposal of the DOC in front of you?
14 A    Yes.
15 Q    Can you walk us through what the proposal is?
16 A    So this is Article 32.  32.1 sets forth that everyone 
17      transitioning into the new biennium at the same pay range, 
18      at the same salary.  We're then going to, in B, increase 
19      salaries at 3 percent, references Appendix B, which will be 
20      generated at a later date, with salary range, step, and the 
21      specifics on that.  
22           We then go to 32.2.  
23 Q    Can I stop you?  The 3 percent is -- that's an increase in 
24      2015 only?
25 A    Yes, it is.
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1 Q    And is there a 2016 increase?

2 A    No, there is not.

3 Q    Can you help us understand that?  

4 A    So if we go back to bargaining, our initial proposal was a   

5      1 percent effective 7/1/2015 and 7/1/2016, so 1 and a 1 is 

6      how we phrased that.  It was initial proposal, a starting 

7      point, if you will, to show the parties and the employees 

8      that we're putting wages on the -- we're putting increases 

9      on the table.  

10           From there, after discussions with the Teamsters, as 

11      far as, you know, we're looking to move negotiations along, 

12      we had sidebar discussions that -- it could look like a 2 

13      and a 1 or a 3.  There's some room there or sort of a way to 

14      spread that.  The Teamsters' desire was to put as much as we 

15      could in that first year, since there is a recognition that 

16      we have gone a very long time without raises.  

17           In addition, my team, after talking with my team, we 

18      felt the same way.  We felt that it was important that, if 

19      at all possible, that first paycheck on 7/25 of 2015 

20      employees can see a difference in their paycheck.  And so we 

21      made the decision in the proposal to put everything we had 

22      in that first year.

23 Q    Thank you.  Now you can move to the next page?

24 A    Sure.  Under 32.2 it's essentially the same proposal, just a 

25      different pay range.  So the most important piece would be 
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1      under B that reflects a 3 percent pay increase.  
2                ARBITRATOR:  What's the difference?  
3                THE WITNESS:  It's the nurse's pay range, so 
4      it's just a -- yeah.
5 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  What is in N2?  Is that for nurses?
6 A    Yes.  It's nurses' pay range.
7                ARBITRATOR:  So why is that in the contract twice?  
8      As a grievance arbitrator, that always puzzles me.  
9      Ordinarily, if you see something twice, there must be two 

10      different things.  This seems to be the same thing listed 
11      twice.  It's sort of a lawyer special, listing one thing and 
12      coming to two.  
13                THE WITNESS:  Right.
14                ARBITRATOR:  But it is one thing and just listed 
15      twice?  
16                THE WITNESS:  Yes.  This is the way we have done 
17      our articles and come to agreement since 2005.  This is the 
18      same format that we've always used.
19                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  The new language in D, each 
20      time you don't get to go over the top of the range.
21                THE WITNESS:  Yes.  Coincidentally, with Teamsters 
22      employees, we had no one considered Y rated, but it's 
23      language that's necessary when you have a general wage 
24      increase.  
25                ARBITRATOR:  Got you.
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1 A    As I flip through our proposal, I believe the next change 
2      is, quite a long article, is on page 16 of 16 and it is a 
3      new 32.25.
4 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Just one second.  
5 A    32.25 titled Recruitment and Retention - Compression/ 
6      Inversion-Increased Duties and Responsibilities and 
7      Inequities.  These were the specific increases that are 
8      reflected Appendix G.  That's, I'm sure, in one of these 
9      exhibits that targeted increases to address specific 

10      situations for documented recruitment, retention, 
11      compression, inversion, increased duties, responsibilities, 
12      or inequities.  
13           And then finally 32.25 was something that was -- this 
14      was expired language, so . . .
15 Q    Now, at the time of the 3 percent reduction in pay -- we've 
16      already had some discussion about that I think went for a 
17      couple years -- was there additional leave that had been 
18      granted?
19                ARBITRATOR:  That's the snapback reduction?  The 
20      snapback reduction that was in effect until the very last 
21      day of its contract period -- 
22                MR. KLEIN:  Yes. 
23                ARBITRATOR:  -- and then the old rates snapped 
24      back -- 
25                THE WITNESS:  Yes.
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1                MR. KLEIN:  Right.

2                ARBITRATOR:  -- in return for unpaid time out -- 

3      time off equivalent?  

4                MR. KLEIN:  That's the part I want to get on the 

5      record.

6                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.

7 A    So 32.25 was done TSR, temporary salary reduction leave.  It 

8      was done in conjunction with the 3 percent reduction.  So as 

9      State employees -- and actually all State employees took a 

10      wage reduction of 3 percent, they were granted 5.2 hours in 

11      addition each month of temporary salary reduction leave, 

12      leave that is different than vacation, different than a 

13      personal holiday, or a personal leave day.  No cash value.  

14      Needs to be used or it was lost, in many contracts, at the 

15      last day of the agreement.  

16           However, in this contract, we extended it in one more 

17      cycle further so the employees would be able to use their 

18      TSR leave balances when they did their annual vacation leave 

19      process.  It was important to give employees every ability 

20      we could to use that leave.

21 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  And was that -- was the 5.2 calculation a 

22      rough proxy for a 3 percent of time?

23 A    Yes.

24 Q    Let's continue on through the appendices.  Actually, I am 

25      going to stop you for one thing.  I want to make sure it's 
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1      clear.  
2           Is the range that's used or the salary schedule that's 
3      used for nurses different than for others?
4 A    Yes.  It's my understanding -- it would help me if I could 
5      look at it.  I'm not sure that we have it in this agreement.  
6      It's a combination of years of experience and 
7      qualifications.  So it's a little bit different versus where 
8      you initially get placed on that salary range and the 
9      accelerated part of it, so it is a little bit different.

10                ARBITRATOR:  I don't know whether you just told me 
11      the placement on the same salary range is different or that 
12      placement and the salary range on which you are placed are 
13      both different.  
14                THE WITNESS:  What's your -- I might be confused.
15                ARBITRATOR:  So I thought from Otto's question 
16      that you were going to tell me that there was a separate 
17      salary schedule for nurses.  
18                THE WITNESS:  There is.
19                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  
20                MR. KLEIN:  If you look at -- unfortunately, I see 
21      we have managed to get the '9 through '11 collective 
22      bargaining agreement in here rather than '11 through '13.  
23                ARBITRATOR:  I was wondering about that.  
24                MR. KLEIN:  Yeah.  Stuff happens.  
25                ARBITRATOR:  Yeah.
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1                MR. KLEIN:  This is the '11 through '13.  
2 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  But if you could look at Exhibit 1-1?
3                MR. THAL:  We do have the '9-'11 in our book.
4                MR. KLEIN:  I don't -- for purposes of this, I 
5      don't think I need it, but thank you.  
6 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  If you go back to Appendix C.  
7 A    Sure.  So you see these look different.
8 Q    And it goes, it looks like up at the top, talked about years 
9      of experience and that goes up through, in this one, up 

10      through 20 in Step T?
11 A    Yes.
12                ARBITRATOR:  So a step is not time in class.  It's 
13      steps are based on years of experience and not necessarily 
14      years of experience in class with this employer?  
15                THE WITNESS:  Yes.  
16                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  Thanks.  Which also explains 
17      why there are two different references.
18                THE WITNESS:  Right.  
19 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Now, I think we -- you were about to start 
20      taking us through Appendix D.  
21 A    Which?  I didn't --
22 Q    I'm sorry.  We're going back to 1-3, which is the proposal.  
23 A    Great.  Appendix D, so this is our assignment pay appendix 
24      and you'll notice the first change is on page 2.  We deleted 
25      a reference to asbestos workers.  It was no longer needed or 
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1      used at the Department of Corrections.  

2           On page 3 we struck a reference to psychologist 4, but 

3      the reason for that, as you turn to page 4, is, we wanted to 

4      apply an assignment pay statewide, whereas on page 3 it was 

5      just specific to the Monroe Correctional Complex.  The 

6      proposal was to expand that to all employees in this class.

7 Q    And I believe I saw in the Teamsters' proposal that that has 

8      been accepted?

9                MR. THAL:  Yes.  Just for the record, those two 

10      changes, both the asbestos worker and the psych 4 statewide 

11      that she just testified about -- excuse me, psychologist 4 

12      that you just testified about, are stipulated.  We actually, 

13      in our proposal, also proposed -- let's see.  It looks like 

14      you did propose the elimination of 20.  In this version you 

15      hadn't previously.  So I think we're aligned now on that, 

16      reference 20 being deleted.  Yeah.  

17                ARBITRATOR:  So those three parts of this appendix 

18      have all been TA'd?  

19                MR. THAL:  Michelle, she moved the psych 4.

20                ARBITRATOR:  Off the record.

21                                     (Recessed at 11:11 a.m.)

22                                     (Reconvened at 11:12 a.m.)

23                ARBITRATOR:  Back on the record after just a 

24      minute.  

25                MR. THAL:  So the Union would stipulate that 
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1      psychologist 4 is properly moved from a 2 range Monroe 
2      specific group C to a 4 range statewide group C, and we 
3      would stipulate to the deletion in group B of asbestos 
4      worker certified along with the deletion of the reference 
5      No. 20 that appears on page 5 because that corresponds to 
6      the asbestos workers.
7                MR. KLEIN:  It looks like, in looking at your 
8      proposal, that the change in reference 29 is also okay?  
9                MR. THAL:  The change in -- yeah.  You can call 

10      yourself whatever you want.  That's fine.  
11                ARBITRATOR:  Well -- 
12                MR. THAL:  Yes.  It's fine.
13                ARBITRATOR:  So that was the insertion -- if I 
14      understand it correctly, there was the insertion of the 
15      reference to OFM's prior approval required there?  
16                MR. THAL:  Yeah.  It's just a cleanup really 
17      because it's changing a name from State Human Resources 
18      director to Office of Financial Management/State Human 
19      Resources.  It's just a cleanup.  
20                ARBITRATOR:  Got it.
21                MR. THAL:  That's why I said they can call 
22      themselves whatever they want.  
23                ARBITRATOR:  Are we good to go?  
24                MR. THAL:  I think so.  
25                ARBITRATOR:  Sure.  Off the record.
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1                                     (Recessed at 11:14 a.m.)
2                                     (Reconvened at 11:15 a.m.)
3                ARBITRATOR:  Back on the record.  So apparently 
4      the Appendix D, as in delta, material is all subject to 
5      tentative agreements now?  
6                MR. THAL:  No.  
7                ARBITRATOR:  No?  
8                MR. THAL:  No, not quite.
9                ARBITRATOR:  What did I miss?  

10                MR. THAL:  Some things are.  There are some 
11      differences still.  One is that we're proposing elimination 
12      of the geo pay conditional upon the prison premium, which 
13      they are not accepting.
14                ARBITRATOR:  I'm sorry.  I said that too broadly.  
15      The agency's proposals with respect to D have all been TA'd, 
16      and there are additional proposals with respect to   
17      Appendix D coming from the Union.
18                MR. THAL:  Excellent, yeah.  The agency's proposed 
19      changes are acceptable.  
20                ARBITRATOR:  Thanks.
21 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Shall we move ahead to the next appendix?  
22      It looks like there's no change in E.  
23 A    Correct.
24 Q    Is there not an F?  Does it go from G to -- 
25                MR. KLEIN:  I don't know.  I'm not going to take 
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1      this on. 
2 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Let's go next to what's in Appendix G in the 
3      document and we'll let better heads than I figure that out 
4      later.  
5 A    F is most likely healthcare or something that is at a 
6      different table, but G is a new appendix.
7                MR. THAL:  You don't have to worry your pretty 
8      little head about it.  
9                MR. KLEIN:  You can rest assured of that.

10 A    G is a new appendix.  It reference -- ties back to 32.25.  
11      And these are, as the main article sort of touches on, these 
12      are the specific classifications that the employer's 
13      proposing increases due to, as I said before, recruitment, 
14      retention, inequities, compression, increased duties that, 
15      you know, that phrase in 32.25.
16 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  And could you keep your finger on where you 
17      are here, but at the same time move up to 1- -- 1-6?
18 A    Yes.
19 Q    And can you tell us what this is?
20 A    This is a bit of an expanded version of what you see in    
21      1. -- 1-3.  
22 Q    So, for instance, let's take -- because there's several of 
23      them, the electronics technician series, can you sort of 
24      walk us through?
25 A    Sure.  The proposal here is to eliminate the electronics 
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1      technician classification and reallocate those employees to 
2      electronics technician 4.
3                ARBITRATOR:  Hang on just one second.  Okay.  
4 A    Eliminate electronics tech, reallocate to electronics 
5      technician 4.  It shows the current range, the new range, 
6      the percentage increase, and then this is the new column or 
7      rationale.  
8           This classification has changed over time.  These 
9      employees historically worked with analog equipment, pretty 

10      fundamental sort of basic equipment in the past.  And their 
11      work has changed.  It's gotten -- become more technical, 
12      digital operation, and high-tech security operations.  So 
13      there's a recognition the work has changed and it needs to 
14      be -- their range needs to be increased because of that.
15                ARBITRATOR:  Could you tell me what the letters 
16      following the range designations indicate?  So we got 45E 
17      and 49G.  
18                THE WITNESS:  I don't know off the top of my head.
19                MR. THAL:  I do.  Do you mind if I just tell him?  
20                MR. KLEIN:  Yes, please.
21                MR. THAL:  All it means, that's the start of the 
22      range, whereas normally -- 
23                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  Got you.
24                MR. THAL:  -- you start in Step A -- 
25                THE WITNESS:  Thank you.
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1                MR. THAL:  -- these employees start at Step E or 
2      Step G respectively.
3                ARBITRATOR:  So the letter sets out the -- 
4                MR. THAL:  Entry level.
5                ARBITRATOR:  -- initial placement for, for 
6      example, I assume that maintenance employees start up the 
7      scale somewhere or other.
8                MR. THAL:  It starts -- 
9                ARBITRATOR:  Crafts employees.

10                MR. THAL:  It tends to be the crafts employees 
11      that have that.
12                THE WITNESS:  Thank you.
13 A    And then as I carry on to the next box, electronics 
14      technician 4 are -- once at the -- once reallocated to the  
15      4 level, that classification will receive a 2 and a half 
16      percent increase, again, recognizing those higher-level 
17      duties.
18 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  And then once you bump up to 4, then I take 
19      it the supervisor over that group needs to get bumped up as 
20      well?
21 A    The supervisor classification will receive a 5 percent 
22      increase due to compression.
23 Q    So can you similarly walk us through the correctional 
24      records tech?
25 A    Sure.  Correctional records technician 1, 2, and supervisor, 
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1      there was a recognition that this classification has, over 

2      time, has had a higher level of responsibility in decision- 

3      making.  There's been numerous new legislation that impacts 

4      their work.  It requires them to make a higher level of 

5      decision-making, taking more risk, more accountability.  So 

6      a 10 percent increase was added to these classifications in 

7      recognition of that work that has changed.

8 Q    And that's true for 1 and 2 and the supervisor as well?

9 A    Yes.

10 Q    They're all going up four -- 

11 A    Yes.

12 Q    -- ranges?  

13           Corrections mental health counselor 2 and 3?

14 A    These two classifications are having statewide recruitment 

15      and retention challenges.  And there is some turnover for 

16      2012, 20 percent.  2013 is 12 percent.  So significant 

17      challenges there.

18 Q    And then psychologist 4, that's one we already talked about, 

19      the -- 

20 A    Right.  It's a recognition that there's statewide 

21      challenges, not just at Monroe.

22 Q    Okay.  I think I skipped the sex offender treatment.  

23                ARBITRATOR:  I'm sorry.  I don't know -- I don't 

24      understand what the percent increase column entry,         

25      10 percent assignment pay means and 5 percent assignment 
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1      pay.  Does that mean that we're going to change only the 
2      geographic specific portion -- 
3                THE WITNESS:  Yes.
4                ARBITRATOR:  -- of the premium for these?  
5                THE WITNESS:  Whereas the others, they're actually 
6      getting a range change.  These employees, their range will 
7      stay the same and then a premium will be added on top.
8                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  Thank you.
9 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  I'm wondering, is that correct to have MCC?  

10      I thought that was getting deleted down at the bottom.  Did 
11      I misunderstand that?
12 A    The purpose for this is -- I guess you could say -- you 
13      could delete that.  Just say all employees statewide will 
14      receive a 10 percent.  What I wanted to make sure was 
15      present that it wasn't MCC -- MCC would retain their         
16      5 percent and then get an additional 10, thereby getting 15.  
17      So in an attempt to be extra clear, the actual employees 
18      will receive at MCC is an additional 5.
19 Q    Got it.  Thank you for that clarification.  
20                ARBITRATOR:  Bauh, bauh, bauh -- sorry.  
21                MR. THAL:  MCC -- 
22                ARBITRATOR:  I would be fascinated to see how she 
23      deals with the bauh, bauh, bauh.  Sorry.  So I don't know -- 
24                MR. KLEIN:  Pretty darn well, it looks to me.
25                MR. THAL:  I think it's MCC had 5 percent.
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1                ARBITRATOR:  Yes.
2                MR. THAL:  When they brought it to statewide      
3      10 percent, MCC is only getting plus up of 5.  Everyone else 
4      is getting 10.  Stipulate?  
5                MR. KLEIN:  Stipulate.
6                ARBITRATOR:  Well, that's one possibility.  That's 
7      what is happening?  
8                MR. THAL:  That is what is happening.
9                MR. KLEIN:  Happening.

10                MR. THAL:  Under the proposal.
11                ARBITRATOR:  That wouldn't even have been one of 
12      my -- 
13                MR. KLEIN:  Bauh, bauh, bauh.
14                ARBITRATOR:  Yeah, right.  -- interpretations.  
15 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  So should we circle back to the sex offender 
16      treatment specialist which I think I skipped?
17 A    Yes.  This classification is experiencing recruitment/ 
18      retention challenges.  We've had a number of positions 
19      vacant for more than two years that really does affect the 
20      program and the operating level of that agency, of that 
21      actual program.  They are operating 25 to 30 percent below 
22      target caseload.  This will hopefully help reduce turnover 
23      and attract more candidates.  It's a 5 percent increase.
24 Q    And with regard to the proposals that are made here, is that 
25      something that is done through consultation with and 
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1      recommendations of the DOC in this case?

2 A    Yes.  Far before we start collective bargaining, DOC works 

3      with the Classification and Compensation Unit at State Human 

4      Resources, my division.  And they work together to address 

5      where you're having problems, what changes would you like to 

6      see, how can we help you make things better for your agency 

7      and accomplish your mission and your -- the tasks of your 

8      agency.  That's a process that starts six months to a year 

9      before we start bargaining.

10 Q    Is that a process which occurs in other agencies around the 

11      state as they begin preparing for bargaining?

12 A    Absolutely.

13 Q    Back to where you were going to keep your finger at 1-3.  

14 A    Yes.

15 Q    And looks like there -- so we've covered G.  And it looks 

16      like there's an -- H is going to become F now?

17 A    Yes.

18 Q    And are there -- there's no changes in that one that we're 

19      proposing?

20 A    No changes.

21                MR. KLEIN:  I have nothing further.  Thank you.  

22                MR. THAL:  Just one question for the witness.

23                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  Cross?  

24                MR. THAL:  And it relates actually to the Union's 

25      proposals so it's going to be in -- 
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1                MR. KLEIN:  It's in this notebook as well.
2                MR. THAL:  You have it in that notebook as well?  
3      Okay.  Great. 
4                ARBITRATOR:  1-4.
5                         CROSS EXAMINATION
6 BY MR. THAL: 
7 Q    1-4, if you could turn to group B in the appendix.  On 
8      certified instructor of defensive tactics, firearms, and 
9      fitness reference No. 42, it's my understanding that the 

10      Union is proposing to make this language change to accord 
11      with current practice, which is that anyone who is a 
12      certified instructor of defensive tactics, firearms, and 
13      fitness, whatever their classification, gets the $10 per 
14      hour, which I think is current practice, as opposed to it 
15      being limited only to CO's, which is the current assignment 
16      pay language.  
17           Do you agree or disagree?  
18                ARBITRATOR:  I don't understand the question.
19                MR. THAL:  I'm looking to see if I can get a 
20      stipulation from the employer that this is -- 
21                MR. KLEIN:  Tell me again where you are.  
22                ARBITRATOR:  Off the record.  There's no reason to 
23      put this on the record.
24                                     (Recessed at 11:27 a.m.)
25                                     (Reconvened at 11:32 a.m.)
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1                ARBITRATOR:  Back on the record after a couple 
2      minutes.  And my understanding is that the agency agrees to 
3      the Teamster provisions set out in 1-4 of the agency's book, 
4      eliminating the references to reference 42 in group A?  
5                MR. KLEIN:  Well, it's actually, yeah, deleting 
6      the five titles.
7                MR. THAL:  Three titles.  
8                MR. KLEIN:  Well, there's correctional supervisor 
9      2, correctional -- 

10                MR. THAL:  That's for asbestos.  But actually we 
11      should eliminate those titles as well because asbestos has 
12      been eliminated.  So, yes, you are correct.  So all of the 
13      titles are -- 
14                MR. KLEIN:  No.  You still have truck driver 1 and 
15      2 in A, but you don't in --
16                MR. THAL:  Those five, yes.
17                MR. KLEIN:  First five.  Leave truck driver in.
18                MR. THAL:  Yes.  
19                MR. KLEIN:  Delete asbestos and then insert 
20      certified instructors of defensive tactics, firearms, and 
21      fitness.  And that would have a reference to No. 42.
22                ARBITRATOR:  Which is unchanged.
23                MR. KLEIN:  Which remains unchanged.  That 
24      explains why this change has occurred because reference 42 
25      talks about any employees who are doing that, not just those 
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1      in the particular classification.  
2                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  
3                MR. KLEIN:  Did I get that?  
4                MR. THAL:  Yeah, you did get that.  And . . . 
5                ARBITRATOR:  The remainder of your proposed 
6      changes in that appendix, which is the elimination of 
7      everything in group C?  
8                MR. THAL:  You're now talking to the Union?  
9                ARBITRATOR:  I am talking to the Union, right, 

10      except for psychiatrist 4.  
11                MR. THAL:  Is still in dispute.
12                ARBITRATOR:  Is still in dispute.
13                MR. THAL:  And that's because we're proposing the 
14      elimination of what we're calling the geo pay, the location 
15      pay, the 5 percent in connection with the 10 percent 
16      premium.
17                ARBITRATOR:  That was the next part of my 
18      question.  Right.  Thank you.  
19           That was your one and only question of cross?  
20                MR. THAL:  We're done crossing.
21                ARBITRATOR:  Redirect?  
22                MR. KLEIN:  No.
23                ARBITRATOR:  Thanks.  You're done.  
24                MR. KLEIN:  I think my preference would be to take 
25      a little earlier -- do a lunch break now.  I think it's 
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1      going to be more efficient.

2                ARBITRATOR:  Off the record.

3                                     (Recessed at 11:35 a.m.)

4                                     (Reconvened at 1:06 p.m.)

5                ARBITRATOR:  Back on the record after lunch and 

6      returning to the State's next witness.

7      

8 KAREN DURANT,               having been first duly sworn,

9                             testified as follows:    

10

11                ARBITRATOR:  Spell your name for us, please.

12                THE WITNESS:  Karen, K-a-r-e-n, Durant, 

13      D-u-r-a-n-t.

14                ARBITRATOR:  Thanks.  

15                MR. KLEIN:  I, by the way, have the Federation 

16      MOU, but I see we didn't three-hole punch it, but I'll wait 

17      and do it at the next break.

18                ARBITRATOR:  Yes, thank you.  Sounds good.

19                MR. THAL:  Thank you.

20                         DIRECT EXAMINATION

21 BY MR. KLEIN:  

22 Q    Ms. Durant, who are you employed by?

23 A    Washington State Office of Financial Management, State Human 

24      Resource Division, Compensation and Classification Section.

25 Q    That was a mouthful.  
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1 A    Yes, indeed.

2 Q    What do you do?

3 A    I am the section chief for the State's Classification and 

4      Compensation.

5 Q    What's involved in being the section chief for the State's 

6      Classification and Compensation?

7 A    Well, my section manages all of the classification and 

8      compensation for State employees, which includes general 

9      government and higher ed employees.  It includes Washington 

10      Management Service Employees, Exempt Management Service 

11      employees, as well as we do salary evaluations for agency 

12      directors, separate studies for other public sector entities 

13      as requested.

14           We also do -- we manage the State's salary survey, the 

15      Washington State Patrol salary survey, the DOC salary 

16      survey, as well as the marine employees salary survey.  We 

17      do all of the classification specific work, analyzing agency 

18      positions and all of that kind of support work related to 

19      classification systems and anything related to compensation 

20      of State employees.

21 Q    Phew.  

22           With regard to the surveys that are done -- and let's 

23      focus first on the broader -- I think it's called the total 

24      compensation survey -- we've heard testimony earlier that 

25      there was a survey done by Segal in 2014.  
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1           Has that survey been performed prior to that time?
2 A    The State Department of Personnel historically had done 
3      salary surveys for the last 40 years, approximately every 
4      two years.  The exception to that was 2012 there was not a 
5      survey.  We've done the survey through a contractor 2008 to 
6      2010 and now 2014, the general salary survey.
7 Q    And that's the -- in 2010 was that also done by Segal?
8 A    It was.
9 Q    Prior to that time, I think you said was done by Department 

10      of Personnel?
11 A    Well, prior to 2008 it was done by Department of Personnel 
12      or -- yeah.  And starting in 2008 they had a contract for 
13      that.
14 Q    Why does the State do these surveys?
15 A    Well, a couple of reasons.  It informs our position kind of 
16      competitively.  We look at a number of things when we get 
17      data.  So we look at our market competitiveness.  We also 
18      look at if there's a significant recruitment and retention 
19      so that we're not -- you know, if we have significant 
20      recruitment and retention, we can look to the salary survey 
21      to see is market competitiveness a reason for, you know, 
22      that disparity.  We use it to inform possible budget 
23      decisions.  We use it to inform class-specific salary 
24      studies.  We use it to inform collective bargaining.  
25 Q    Let's start -- 
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1 A    Can I back up to my history just a little bit?  
2 Q    Yes.  Please do.  
3 A    So the other things my section does is, we're responsible 
4      for all of the financials for collective bargaining and 
5      submitting all those numbers for the budget.  So whatever 
6      happens in result of bargaining or arbitration decisions, we 
7      have the responsibility for pulling all of those financials 
8      together.
9                ARBITRATOR:  You do all the costing?  

10                THE WITNESS:  Yes.
11                ARBITRATOR:  Thanks.
12 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  I don't think I asked you what else you've 
13      done prior to being the section chief.  Could you tell us 
14      that?  And I apologize for not having asked you that.  
15 A    Yes.  Prior to this responsibility -- it happened in August 
16      of 2013.  Prior to that, I spent ten years as the senior 
17      compensation and policy analyst for the Labor Relations 
18      Division of OFM, where I was responsible for all of the 
19      financials for the collective bargaining agreements.  
20           Prior to that time, I had a brief stint in higher 
21      education at the Higher Education Coordinating Board, now 
22      the Student Achievement Council, as the assistant director 
23      for policy.  And I did human resource policy and 
24      compensation policy for four-year higher ed institutions.  
25           I had a brief stint at the Evergreen State College as 
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1      the associate vice president for finance and administration.  
2           And prior to that time, eight years with the 
3      Financial -- Office of Financial Management as the 
4      governor's executive policy advisor for pension and 
5      healthcare as well as -- I'm sorry.  Something in my throat.  
6      Budget assistant to the governor for all matters related to 
7      compensation.
8 Q    And so just to frame it, can you tell us at the beginning of 
9      that eight-year period when it was you started?

10 A    1991.  Twenty-three years with the State.
11 Q    So back to the work you're doing and you indicated that the 
12      salary survey was -- is used and you listed four or five 
13      things.  The last one you listed was collective bargaining.  
14      Tell us about that.  
15 A    So when we start collective bargaining, we try and put 
16      together policy considerations for the governor and policy 
17      makers, budget decision-makers to try and frame sizing and 
18      different avenues that we can go and deliberations for 
19      bargaining as well as nonrepresented employees.  
20           And so it is used as our kind of measurements of that 
21      as a policy consideration.  And as we go down the path of 
22      individual contracts, it just kind of further informs that, 
23      as there may or may not be proposals on the table for those 
24      kinds of considerations.
25 Q    And is there a way that in looking at the data you get back 
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1      from the total compensation survey that you analyze the data 

2      in terms of figuring out where employees are at the State in 

3      relationship to the market as defined by that particular 

4      survey?

5 A    So for 2014, for example, we analyzed the market midpoint of 

6      the particular job classifications results and compared that 

7      to the State's Step L, which is not the highest step in the 

8      range.  It is the highest regular progression step.  It's 

9      not the longevity Step M.  So we compare Step L to the 

10      midpoint of market.

11 Q    Can you help us understand that methodology?

12 A    The State's classifications in general are on the higher end 

13      of the salary range.  Most of our job classes are very close 

14      to L, if not at L or M.

15 Q    And so why is it that -- what I'm trying to understand, if 

16      we have, on the one hand, looking at Step L for the State 

17      and then we look at the midpoint for the others, that's what 

18      I'm -- I want to try and get a better understanding of.  Why 

19      would you not look, for instance, at the max of all the 

20      others?

21 A    Well, a lot of times the maximums in the salary schedules 

22      are not normal progressions.  They're open-ended.  They 

23      don't have a regular schedule of progression, and so we want 

24      to try and take that into account, so to speak.  

25           Another rationale for us doing that is, we're trying to 
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1      look at our workforce and we're also trying to analyze that 
2      in some kind of a comparable what they would have termed 
3      progression.  That seemed a reasonable approach.  And 
4      specifically related to like the DOC survey that we've   
5      done --
6 Q    I'm going to get the DOC in a minute.  
7 A    Okay.
8 Q    I want to start with the total compensation survey, if I 
9      can.  

10 A    All right.
11 Q    And so was there -- in looking at that, was there a document 
12      that's put together that looks at what -- how someone 
13      relates to or what sort of a catch-up one would have or 
14      where -- what percentage, if you will, someone is, as 
15      defined in the marketplace when you use Step L to midpoint 
16      of the market in the TCS survey?
17 A    Yes.  There's a report, um-hmm.
18                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  I'm waiting for another shoe 
19      here.  So we're looking at Step L, and the reason we're 
20      looking at Step L is that so larger percentage of the 
21      workforce overall is crammed up at the top of the step 
22      range.  And we are hoping that Step L ends up within what 
23      bracket of the midpoint of the market?  So do we -- we want 
24      our Step L to be around the midpoint of the market?  Is that 
25      the goal?  
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1                THE WITNESS:  Well, we compare our, I guess 
2      percent behind, if you will, or what our applied range would 
3      be to the midpoint.
4                ARBITRATOR:  What's your target?  
5                THE WITNESS:  We just want to know how far behind 
6      we are.  We don't necessarily -- 
7                ARBITRATOR:  So there isn't necessarily a policy 
8      target?  
9                THE WITNESS:  No.  And that is part of -- 

10                ARBITRATOR:  King County, for example, has a 
11      policy target it wants to be.
12                THE WITNESS:  Yeah.  We don't have that.  So every 
13      single cycle, we pull that information.  We do the costing.  
14      We do kind of the analysis on that and then there needs to 
15      be some kind of policy decision based on financials and 
16      other factors, whether we do that.  We don't have a normal 
17      we need to be within X percent of our market.
18                ARBITRATOR:  Got you.  So the policy decision 
19      comes after you have the data -- 
20                THE WITNESS:  Exactly.
21                ARBITRATOR:  -- instead of the data after the 
22      policy.
23                THE WITNESS:  Exactly.  Sorry.
24 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Have there been times -- and I would like 
25      you to focus on 2005 forward.  
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1 A    Um-hmm.

2 Q    Have there been times where there has been a percentage and 

3      we'll -- I'll use behind market that has been utilized in 

4      terms of catching people up to that as part of the 

5      collective bargaining process or in setting compensation 

6      process?

7 A    Yes.  We had an exhibit earlier that showed the history of 

8      State employee compensation since 1962.  In that, there's a 

9      reflection that 7/1 of 2005 employees were brought up to 

10      within 25 percent of market.  Again in 7/1 of 2007, 

11      employees were brought up to within 25 percent of that 

12      market.

13 Q    And then something hit the fan and you stopped doing that?  

14      You don't need to respond to that.  Never mind.  I'll 

15      withdraw that.  

16           Has that happened since?  I should ask that.  

17 A    7/1 of 2005 -- or 2007 was the last time that happened.

18 Q    In terms of the classification system, and I think you said 

19      you have overall responsibility for that within the OFM  

20      organization, help us understand a little more about the 

21      importance or lack of importance of consistency within the 

22      classification.  

23 A    So we have about 1,600 job classifications that we manage.  

24      They're all over the map, everything from clerical to 

25      corrections positions, as well as shared classifications 
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1      that we manage on behalf of higher education.  

2           So the interests are very diverse.  They are 

3      represented by different contracts that are negotiated by 

4      different entities.  But we have to try and maintain a 

5      classification structure that provides some alignment so 

6      that we're mitigating risk and so that we're not, I guess, 

7      robbing Peter to pay Paul.  Same job classes going to the 

8      same employer, different places.

9 Q    You talked about mitigating risk as part of this interest in 

10      alignment.  Help us understand a little more what you mean.  

11 A    We have had numerous legal actions based on -- it started 

12      with comparable worth.  Basically common work, similar job, 

13      paid differentially.  

14                ARBITRATOR:  May I try to briefly recite the 

15      history, as I understand it, so that we don't have to try 

16      and get it from elsewhere and, also, so that you can correct 

17      me if I have it wrong?  

18           The State of Washington actually led the way at one 

19      point when the national policy discussion had shifted from 

20      equal work, equal pay to the broader goal of equal pay for 

21      comparable worth.  A series of court actions trying to 

22      pursue the comparable worth theory had all resulted in court 

23      decisions which said essentially we, the court, are not 

24      going to try and figure out what this comparable worth stuff 

25      is.  So the theory doesn't work.  
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1           And then the State of Washington stepped into the 
2      puddle and conducted a coherent salary schedule study, 
3      attempting to establish an equivalence across broad job 
4      classifications.  And a clever plaintiff took that and said 
5      well, gee, the court doesn't have to do that if we sue the 
6      State of Washington because the State has done it all on its 
7      own and that sort of becomes the centerpiece to the history 
8      of comparable worth litigation in the United States.  
9           And Washington has been continuing to try to do 

10      something about comparability in its classification system 
11      ever since.  Close enough?  
12                MR. KLEIN:  Yes.
13                THE WITNESS:  I'm good with that.  Yes, thank you.
14                MR. KLEIN:  If you're good with it, I'm good.
15                MR. THAL:  Pretty good.  General government, 
16      higher education was the split, and I think there's a 
17      well-recognized exception for collective bargaining.  
18                ARBITRATOR:  Yes.  It's an interesting tension 
19      between collective bargaining and the general legal theory 
20      of comparability.  
21                MR. THAL:  Sounds like we're all on the same page.  
22 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  You also talked about, and hopefully I 
23      caught your phrase correctly, robbing Peter to pay Paul.  
24      Can you tell us a little more about that, which I take it is 
25      a practical consideration as opposed to a legal 
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1      consideration?  

2 A    Yeah.  Or I guess more of a policy matter or priority.  This 

3      administration, through Results Washington, has an HR policy 

4      initiative of employer being an employer of choice, one 

5      employer of choice.  And so by doing that, I am thinking 

6      that, as a classifications system, we want to try to 

7      enourage the growth of our leadership in our agencies and 

8      continuing them through their classification system.  

9           So if we have bifurcated classifications similar, 

10      things paid in differentially in different agencies or 

11      different collective bargaining agreements, it's going to 

12      make that difficult to happen.  We'll be competing against 

13      ourselves.

14 Q    That doesn't sound like one employer to you?

15 A    It doesn't sound like one employer to me.

16 Q    Did you put together a -- 

17                MR. KLEIN:  Pass this out first.  I'm sorry.  I 

18      don't have color for all.  

19                THE WITNESS:  Are we sharing?  

20                MR. KLEIN:  No.

21                ARBITRATOR:  Is this mine?  

22                MR. KLEIN:  Yes, it's yours.  

23                ARBITRATOR:  Thank you.  4-22.  

24                MR. KLEIN:  I think this will be 4-22 in the book.  

25 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Ms. Durant, having already played twister 
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1      with Ms. Mitchell, I would like to play splatter with you.  

2      Can you help us understand what this is or walk us through 

3      this exhibit?

4 A    Yeah.  So I think the one on top has administrative 

5      assistant and RN 2.  It's the one I have on top.  So if we 

6      look at two of the classifications that are in the Teamsters 

7      unit that are not unique to DOC, for example, let's just 

8      take admin assistant 3, you can see there are 24 positions 

9      that are represented by the Teamsters, but as a 

10      comparability issue, you can see that there are a number of 

11      other jurisdictions that have administrative assistant 3's, 

12      including WPEA, community college coalition agreement which 

13      we negotiate.  

14           The Federation of State Employees has 319.  There are 

15      231 nonrepresented employees.  The Federation community 

16      college contract has roughly 66.  The Washington Public 

17      Employees Association has 17.  Western Washington 

18      University's PSE, Public School Employees Unit, has roughly 

19      10.  WSU's Federation unit has one.  Eastern Washington 

20      University's Federation has one and the Evergreen State 

21      College Federation agreement has four.  

22 Q    And did you do the same with the RN's?  You don't need to 

23      read all of them off.  

24 A    Right.  The same applies with the exhibit on RN 2's.

25 Q    And how about on the second page?  What do we have?
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1 A    The second page, the same idea of the game of splatter, with 

2      maintenance mechanics 3 as well as office assistant 3.  It 

3      just shows it's very complicated very quick.  

4 Q    And then did you also have a slide that's part of this 

5      concerning job classifications at the State of Washington?

6 A    Yeah.  This just basically says what I indicated earlier.  

7      We have roughly 1,600 job classifications that we try and 

8      manage and maintain that comparability and alignment.  The 

9      Teamsters agreement covers 112 job classifications.  

10      Ninety-nine of those are not corrections specific classes.

11 Q    So sum that piece up for me.  What does that mean, from your 

12      perspective?

13 A    From my perspective, I guess, for consideration is that we 

14      need to be looking at the actions at this table, how they 

15      impact the classification system and how they would impact 

16      these other agreements or nonrepresented employees and how 

17      we try and maintain a State structure of one employer of 

18      choice when you have the complications of, in this case, 

19      interest arbitration weighing heavily on that.

20 Q    You indicated that in addition to the TCS survey that you 

21      also worked with the Segal on the corrections survey?

22 A    Um-hmm -- yes.

23 Q    Is that a "yes"?

24 A    Yes.

25 Q    Thank you.  
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1           And were you involved in communications with Segal on 

2      that?

3 A    Yes.

4 Q    Initially did you give Segal instructions on the states you 

5      wanted to have surveyed?

6 A    We asked them to do ten states which aligned with the Bureau 

7      of Labor Statistics West -- Western States.

8 Q    Western region?

9 A    Western region, yes, with the exception of Alaska and 

10      Hawaii, continental United States.

11 Q    And at that point, had you decided upon who you thought were 

12      similarly sized state governments?

13 A    No.

14 Q    That was just an effort to get the Western United States 

15      part of the MOU?

16 A    Yeah.  The MOU specifically states Western United States, I 

17      believe, someplace in here, and state governments.

18 Q    So at some point did you then communicate with Segal about 

19      the five states that you wanted to use?

20 A    We did.  And that decision was based on population.

21 Q    Is that the five states I think that are included then in 

22      the Segal survey?

23 A    They are.  I think the five states that the Union has 

24      stipulated to.

25 Q    Now, Mr. -- there's an issue that was raised concerning the 
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1      corporal classification in Oregon and I think Mr. -- and 
2      Elliot Susseles testified about that.  Is that something 
3      that the State also had taken a look at?
4 A    Simultaneously, part of my team looked at that from a 
5      classification perspective and agreed that -- they went and 
6      actually got the full position spec and compared it rather 
7      than just kind of the summary description.  And after they 
8      finished the full spec analysis, concurred with the revised 
9      position and followed up with the State of Oregon as well 

10      just to validate the assessment.
11 Q    Are you aware that the Teamsters' proposal was to bring 
12      everybody in this bargaining unit up to, quote, market, end 
13      quote?
14 A    Yes.
15 Q    Have you taken a look at what the impact would be to the 
16      State, if you did that across the entire state?
17 A    The cost -- 
18 Q    Yes.  
19 A    -- analysis-wise?  
20 Q    Sorry.  
21 A    It would be approximately $1.2 billion, with a B, dollars.
22 Q    And that is using the Step L to mid process that's been 
23      utilized in terms of the range -- is it range adjustments?
24 A    Yes.  That uses that methodology.
25                ARBITRATOR:  That's the cost of the applying the 
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1      Teamsters' proposed increase, not to this bargaining unit, 
2      but to the entire state workforce?  
3                MR. KLEIN:  If you're going to apply that 
4      statewide, what would be the cost of that.
5                MR. THAL:  That's a yes.
6 A    That would be all funds.  So it would be dedicated fund 
7      sources as well as general fund.
8                ARBITRATOR:  What was the total number?  
9                THE WITNESS:  $1.2 billion, with a B.  Another 

10      McCleary.
11                ARBITRATOR:  Another McCleary.  Off the record.
12                                    (Recessed at 1:33 p.m.)
13                                    (Reconvened at 1:34 p.m.)
14                ARBITRATOR:  Back on the record.
15 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  I forgot to ask you one question, which is, 
16      back on the Oregon corporal piece, did the State contact the 
17      State of Oregon on that process?
18 A    Yes.  So after my team looked at it and validated that there 
19      was a more legitimate match, then they did connect with 
20      Oregon and validated that with them as well.
21 Q    And they were okay with that?
22 A    Yes.
23 Q    As part of your duties, are you also involved in the 
24      healthcare arena at all?
25 A    Yes.
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1 Q    Tell me what you do.  
2 A    Well, as my background stated earlier, I was the governor's 
3      pension -- pension and healthcare advisor.  And since that 
4      time, I've just always kept healthcare as part of my 
5      portfolio.  Specifically right now it's related to the 
6      Public Employee Benefits Board portfolio, which are the 
7      State employee health benefits.  So I'm involved in the 
8      bargaining for that as well as just kind of advising and 
9      policy decisions.

10 Q    And rumor has it that the healthcare table has trumped an 
11      appearance in interest arbitration tomorrow?
12 A    Tomorrow indeed, yes.  I will be at healthcare bargaining 
13      tomorrow.  
14                MR. KLEIN:  Hand out another exhibit.  This will 
15      be 4-21.
16                ARBITRATOR:  Do we have one for Karen?  
17                MR. KLEIN:  Yes.  
18                ARBITRATOR:  Did I end up with two?  
19                MR. THAL:  I think you gave me two.  It's the same 
20      page.
21                MR. KLEIN:  Same page.  
22                MR. THAL:  This is 4-21.
23                MR. KLEIN:  Yeah.  I skipped 4-21 before.  
24                ARBITRATOR:  This really is 4-21.
25                MR. KLEIN:  Yes.  I -- yes.  
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1 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Could you tell us what we have here on 

2      Exhibit 4-21, please?

3 A    Yeah.  So what this exhibit shows is some important 

4      contribution data that drives our PEBB portfolio.  If you 

5      look at the left-hand column, funding rate history.  The 

6      funding rate is the dollar amount that is put in the budget 

7      and appropriated to agencies by the legislature that deals 

8      with the revenue side of the equation related to healthcare 

9      benefits.  It does not have anything to do with the cost of 

10      what we pay for benefits.  

11           I think there was testimony yesterday and in the report 

12      by the law firm for the Union that uses the number 662.  

13      That is the funding rate or the revenue side of the 

14      equation.  I think the data was supposed to be as of   

15      January 1, 2014, which would be fiscal year '14, not fiscal 

16      year '15.  

17           So if we were to use funding rate or revenue side, it 

18      would be $762.  But really what the State spends on average 

19      would be the number under the total column, average employer 

20      premium cost, which is a function of the average cost of the 

21      employer medical share, which, in this case, is $793, plus 

22      the dental average cost of employer share, to get to $874.  

23           There was also a number in that report -- I believe it 

24      was $265.  Might be a couple dollars off that they had.  The 

25      accurate number to compare in this report as the average 
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1      cost of the employee's share of healthcare would be the 

2      $137.  And that's across all plans, all tiers.  

3 Q    Thank you.  Could you, in your book, look at Exhibit 4-9 for 

4      me, please?

5 A    (Witness complies.)

6 Q    Do you have that in front of you, Ms. Durant?

7 A    I do.

8 Q    Can you describe what is on here, please?  So let's take 

9      administrative assistant 1.  That's just -- probably the 

10      easiest way is to walk through that one, if you could?

11 A    The job class code is listed in the left column with the 

12      corresponding title of administrative assistant 1.  There 

13      are ten employees in that classification, and there are 

14      eight agencies or departments that have those ten employees 

15      in it.

16 Q    That would be agencies or departments around the state?

17 A    I'm assuming so.  I did not produce this document, so . . .

18                ARBITRATOR:  How about my guess from the face of 

19      the document would be that the first -- well, the third 

20      column shows the number of employees in the Teamster 

21      bargaining unit and the fourth column shows the number of 

22      agencies of State government that have employees.

23                MR. KLEIN:  I don't think there's -- if you look 

24      at administrative assistant 3's, there's not 575 in the 

25      Teamsters.  I think we can look at the next bunch.  Why 
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1      don't you bring out 4-10.  
2                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  So what's the -- since she 
3      didn't prepare the document, I'm a little asea for what it 
4      does mean.
5                MR. KLEIN:  Well, we'll have our next witness 
6      testify, so that's just fine.  
7                ARBITRATOR:  Never mind.  Where are we going now?  
8                MR. KLEIN:  Well, I'm going to make a note in my 
9      witness thing for the next witness to make sure I do that.

10                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  
11 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  With regard to assessing the data, 
12      Ms. Durant, and looking at this from the State's 
13      perspective, what are the things you would hope the 
14      arbitrator -- what are the things you think would be most 
15      important for the arbitrator to be considering?
16 A    As I mentioned earlier, the mitigation of risk.  We are 
17      trying to manage a classification system that in statute 
18      41.06.157 RCW, I believe, says that it needs to be simple 
19      and streamlined.  I'm not sure we totally comply with that 
20      right now, but I would hope that would be a consideration.
21 Q    I think if I could simplify and streamline it for you, would 
22      you be happy?  
23 A    If you could do that, that would be amazing.  So 
24      consideration of that as well as mitigation of risk, as we 
25      discussed earlier.  And just the consideration of us really 
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1      trying to be an employer of choice.  

2           And by doing so, means we need to be looking at paying 

3      our employees fairly.  And, you know, once hopefully we have 

4      some money, there isn't anything we would love to do more 

5      than compensate our employees more.  

6           So we have to try to think of that fairness and balance 

7      it with the equation of the revenue and the expenditures 

8      related to all of the policy decisions that we have to make 

9      for the State, which is a tough job.

10 Q    Or that others may be making for the State in the case of a 

11      certain court?

12 A    Or that others are making for the State, exactly.

13                MR. KLEIN:  I have nothing further.  Thank you.  

14                ARBITRATOR:  Can we take a minute, unless you have 

15      a very short cross?  

16                MR. THAL:  No.  Take a minute.  That's fine.  

17                ARBITRATOR:  Thanks.

18                                     (Recessed at 1:44 p.m.)

19                                     (Reconvened at 1:48 p.m.)

20                ARBITRATOR:  Back on the record and returning to 

21      cross.

22                MR. THAL:  Thank you.

23                         CROSS EXAMINATION

24 BY MR. THAL:

25 Q    You're going to start with Exhibit 1-2.  So I want to 
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1      start actually where you left off with the arbitrator, which 

2      was asking the arbitrator to have special regard for the 

3      classification issues, but also the financial feasibility of 

4      any award.  

5           Do you recall that testimony?

6 A    Yes.
7 Q    And if we could take a look at Exhibit 1-2, you recognize 

8      this as the memorandum of understanding that is the source 

9      of this interest arbitration process?

10 A    I do.
11 Q    And in particular, we're talking about section 2, aren't we?  

12      Because section 1 addresses midterm and section 2 addresses 

13      the bargaining that we're now under, the 2015 to 2017 

14      agreement.  Would you agree?

15 A    Yes.
16 Q    Thank you.  

17           And would you agree that the third page of this 

18      document in subsection G makes it very clear that the 

19      decision of the arbitrator is not binding on the 

20      legislature?  Correct?

21 A    Correct.
22 Q    And if the legislature does not approve the funds necessary 

23      to implement the provisions, then it is not binding on the 

24      State or Department of Corrections.  Right?  

25 A    That's what the MOU says.
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1 Q    Not only that, but even before we get to the legislature, 
2      you have a role to play, don't you?
3 A    Our role is limited to providing the financial analysis of 
4      the award that is due according to statute October 1st.
5 Q    I think we'll find it in this subsection, right about, won't 
6      we, in the F section?  It's right there at the top of the 
7      page, "The decision of an arbitrator under this section is 
8      subject to the October 1st deadline and financial 
9      feasibility provisions of 41.80.010(3)."  Right?  

10 A    Correct.
11 Q    So what that means, just translated into real people 
12      language, is that, after the arbitrator issues an award, 
13      your department will then review the award to determine 
14      whether the award is financially feasible for the State.  
15      Correct?
16 A    Not correct.  So my department's specific responsibility is 
17      to provide the financial analysis of the award, at which 
18      point it is given to the director of the Office of Financial 
19      Management, in this case David Schumacher, to consider for 
20      the financial feasibility component of that.  So, no, we 
21      don't advise on that.
22 Q    Excuse me for missing the word "office" instead of 
23      department.  Your office will determine whether or not the 
24      award meets the financial feasibility criteria of RCW 41.80.  
25      Right?
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1 A    The agency does, yes.
2 Q    And that will get passed on to the governor?
3 A    Yes.  And will be included or excluded in the budget.
4 Q    And its inclusion or exclusion from the budget is, in part, 
5      driven by that financial feasibility analysis.  Correct?
6 A    Correct.
7 Q    Thank you.  
8           Have there been occasions on which the Office of 
9      Financial Management has declared that an arbitration award 

10      is not financially feasible?
11 A    Yes.
12 Q    Can you give the arbitrator an example of that?
13                ARBITRATOR:  Deckhands.
14                THE WITNESS:  Thank you.  
15                MR. THAL:  Okay.  
16                ARBITRATOR:  I know that because I'm currently 
17      writing Deckhands for this biennium and that becomes part of 
18      the history which I'm obliged to pay attention to.
19                MR. THAL:  Sounds like you've taken notice of it.
20                THE WITNESS:  Thank you.
21                ARBITRATOR:  And, if I may, that points out a very 
22      interesting feature of the Washington approach to State 
23      employee interest arbitration, which is that Washington 
24      changed from the pick-one-last-best-offer format to the 
25      do-good-work format, which interest arbitrators applaud, but 
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1      it's not purely a do-good-work format.  It is a do good work 
2      but come in within what OFM is going to find acceptable.  
3           So as I understand the statutory scheme that I operate 
4      under, under the MOU here, my obligation is not merely to 
5      make a determination on the basis of the factors listed, but 
6      to make, on the basis of the factors listed, a determination 
7      which I believe OFM will find financially feasible.
8                MR. THAL:  Absolutely.  Thank you.
9                MR. KLEIN:  Agreed.

10                MR. THAL:  Agreed.  Glad you understand your 
11      charge so well.
12                ARBITRATOR:  I'm glad the Union understands the 
13      charge so well as well because it sort of eliminates or 
14      should, in my opinion, eliminate the temptation of an 
15      arbitrator to make the Union feel good with a sweeping 
16      victory which turns out to be pyrrhic.
17                MR. THAL:  Off the record for a second.  
18                ARBITRATOR:  Off the record.  
19                                     (Recessed at 1:54 p.m.)
20                                     (Reconvened at 1:54 p.m.)
21                MR. THAL:  Back on the record.
22 Q    (By Mr. Thal)  So now I want to focus on something you 
23      discussed, which has to do with the importance of 
24      consistency across the classification structure.  
25           Do you recall that testimony?
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1 A    Yes.
2 Q    And would you agree with me that, in pursuing that goal of 
3      consistency across the classification structure, it would be 
4      important to have a consistency in the approach to 
5      comparable analysis?
6 A    I guess that depends where you're going with that.  I don't 
7      understand what -- we have changed our methodology in 
8      looking at our salary survey, for example, in the last 
9      couple cycles.

10 Q    That's not what I'm talking about.  
11 A    Okay.
12 Q    I'm not talking about changing methodology over time as long 
13      as that methodology is consistent across classifications.  
14      What I'm asking you is whether you would agree that, in 
15      pursuing the goal, as you say, of a consistency in treatment 
16      of compensation within a classification, you would want the 
17      analysis, the comparable analysis, to match.  
18                ARBITRATOR:  I'm not sure I understand the 
19      question still.  
20                MR. THAL:  Okay.  
21 Q    (By Mr. Thal)  So if the goal is to have consistency in the 
22      compensation structure within the same classification, I 
23      presume that you would want the comparable analysis for the 
24      classification in one department to match the comparable 
25      analysis for the same classification in a different 
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1      department.  Fair enough?

2 A    I'm still confused because it all happens in one department.

3                ARBITRATOR:  Everybody ought to be looking at the 

4      same comparators.

5 Q    (By Mr. Thal)  Everybody ought to be looking at the same 

6      comparators and using the same methodology.  Would you 

7      agree?

8                MR. KLEIN:  For everything?  I mean . . .

9                ARBITRATOR:  For a particular classification, I 

10      think is how he said it.

11                MR. THAL:  For a particular classification.  

12                MR. KLEIN:  Okay.  

13 A    Keep going.

14 Q    (By Mr. Thal)  There's no more keep going.  If you don't 

15      understand the question, I'll try again.  

16 A    I really don't, Spencer.

17 Q    You've got a classification in the Department of Corrections 

18      that is not unique.  It also exists in the Department of 

19      Social and Health Services.  Okay?  Admin assistant.  If 

20      your goal is to have a consistency of compensation within 

21      that classification, and we agree that you would want 

22      ideally for the comparable analysis for both of those 

23      classifications to be identical?

24 A    I think I have to disagree with you in this case simply 

25      because the game changed for us midway through.  We started 
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1      an analysis of our general or what we're calling here total 

2      compensation survey, our general service analysis -- 

3                ARBITRATOR:  SGSS.

4                THE WITNESS:  Yes.  There we go.

5 A    -- prior to the MOU being signed.  So after this got signed, 

6      we -- the statute requires under our total compensation 

7      survey that we consider private and public sector 

8      employees -- private and public sector employers in the 

9      state.  

10           So this MOU clearly says that -- I'm going to read it 

11      here just so I'm not making it up, "That we compare hours 

12      and conditions of employment with like personnel of like 

13      state government employers of similar size in the Western 

14      United States."

15           So that comparable analysis changed when this MOU came 

16      into being.  And so we did procure a separate survey that 

17      changed that to support this structure.

18 Q    (By Mr. Thal)  And I guess your testimony then would suggest 

19      that you believe that that MOU foreclosed any other 

20      comparable analysis?  It allowed you only to look at those 

21      things and did not allow you to consider, for example, the 

22      internal equity issues that you just spoke about; that if 

23      this survey resulted in a different result than your total 

24      compensation survey, that you would want to modify that so 

25      they would be aligned?
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1                MR. KLEIN:  Are you asking for a legal conclusion?  
2      If you are, I will object.
3 Q    (By Mr. Thal)  I have to presume that that's your 
4      perspective because you're saying that the MOU somehow 
5      foreclosed you from the considerations that you give in the 
6      total comp analysis?
7                ARBITRATOR:  I guess I don't understand where the 
8      questioning is going.  If I were required on either side to 
9      implement this MOU, it certainly seems to me that making a 

10      study that was focused as the item language on the MOU  
11      would be a reasonable step in that direction.  Might not be 
12      the only thing that I would do, but it would be a reasonable 
13      thing.
14                MR. THAL:  Of course, of course.  But my question 
15      where I started from was whether the interest in consistency 
16      across classifications leads to the same approach applying 
17      in both departments.  Right?  And her answer was, we got 
18      switched up in the middle because we got this MOU that says 
19      you look at these western states. 
20 Q    (By Mr. Thal)  So my next question was:  Do you regard that 
21      as foreclosing the other look?
22 A    Well, I'm legally required to do the other look.  So I have 
23      to comply with that.  I need to try to inform this, so       
24      I . . . 
25 Q    All right.  Let me try it a different way.  
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1                MR. KLEIN:  It seems like you're sort of arguing 

2      what the MOU says in relation to -- it feels like that's 

3      something we ought to do whenever we do our closings or our 

4      briefs or whatever it is.

5 Q    (By Mr. Thal)  Let me try to get at it a different way.  So 

6      let's compare the 2014 total compensation survey with the 

7      2014 Department of Corrections survey.  Okay.  So I assume 

8      we can agree that, first of all, there are common 

9      classifications that will be in both of those surveys.  

10      Right?

11 A    Correct.
12 Q    And I can assume that you will also agree that those two 

13      surveys generated very different results for those 

14      classifications.  Correct?

15 A    Correct.  Different populations of employers were surveyed, 
16      yes.
17 Q    Right.  In particular, just to dig down a little bit deeper, 

18      the 2014 total compensation survey looked at public sector 

19      employers within state, private sector employers within 

20      state, and out-of-state peers.  Correct?

21 A    Correct.
22 Q    And the 2014 Department of Corrections survey looked only at 

23      out-of-state peers.  Correct?

24 A    Correct.
25 Q    So I want to dig in now just a little bit deeper.  And in 
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1      the 2014 total compensation survey, I want to identify some 
2      of the public sector employers that were surveyed there.  So 
3      if we can turn to -- it will be Exhibit -- 
4                MR. KLEIN:  A big blue book somewhere.  
5 Q    (By Mr. Thal)  -- 37.  
6                MR. KLEIN:  Cleverly placed as the last document 
7      in the binder.  There we go.
8                MR. THAL:  I really should have had 37 at the top 
9      of the book, not the last.  Take your time.

10                MR. KLEIN:  I have a problem here.  
11                MR. THAL:  Are we ready?  
12                MR. KLEIN:  Not quite.
13                ARBITRATOR:  Pretty close.  
14                MR. THAL:  Actually, we're going to turn to     
15      page 98 of that document.  
16                ARBITRATOR:  I'm going to make an executive 
17      decision.
18                MR. THAL:  You're going to move it into the other 
19      book.  
20                ARBITRATOR:  Exhibit 37 just became the first 
21      exhibit in Volume 2.
22                MR. KLEIN:  But this is so much fun to go through 
23      it this way.  
24                MR. LOWY:  What page again, Spencer?  
25                MR. THAL:  98.  
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1                MR. KLEIN:  Thank you.  
2                MR. THAL:  You ready?  
3 Q    (By Mr. Thal)  This is a list of the public sector in-state 
4      participants and state government participants that 
5      contributed to the 2014 total compensation survey.  Correct?
6 A    That's what it says.
7 Q    And on that list are King County.  Correct?
8 A    Yes.
9 Q    Pierce County?

10 A    Yes.
11 Q    We've got -- do we have Spokane County there?
12 A    Yes.
13 Q    And Yakima County.  Right?
14 A    Yes.
15 Q    And so if I'm an administrative assistant at a department 
16      that is not in the Department of Corrections, let's say the 
17      Department of Social and Health Services, those counties 
18      will be looked at in determining where I stand relative to 
19      the overall comparables, correct, if they had 
20      classifications that match.  Right?
21 A    It would reflect in their percent behind market for 
22      nonrepresented employees, yes.
23 Q    Whereas the DOC survey, which -- a DOC-specific survey, 
24      which only covered State government participants, would not 
25      include those counties I just identified, right, because it 
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1      was only state government?
2 A    The DOC survey does not include counties.  Correct.
3 Q    And so the administrative assistant in DOC will have a 
4      different result than the administrative assistant in DSHS.  
5      Right?
6 A    I don't know that I can draw the conclusion that that would 
7      be the result of the proceedings here or -- 
8                ARBITRATOR:  Give or take the stopped clock 
9      phenomenon.

10                MR. THAL:  Help.
11                ARBITRATOR:  The database is different, if 
12      we're -- 
13                MR. THAL:  The database is different?  
14                ARBITRATOR:  It seems safe to assume that the 
15      result is likely to be different, but there's always the 
16      stopped clock.  You know, twice a day the stopped clock is 
17      right.
18                MR. THAL:  Okay.
19                ARBITRATOR:  It could happen that the database, 
20      two different databases, produces the same roughly result.
21 Q    (By Mr. Thal)  I think what we will find, when we compare 
22      the different results in the surveys, that there are -- I 
23      think you've already acknowledged, at least with respect to 
24      the many of classifications, if not all, there are 
25      substantial differences between the results of the 2014 
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1      total compensation survey and the 2014 DOC survey, in part, 
2      based on the difference in peers.  Right?  
3 A    I'm not going to characterize it as substantial, but there 
4      would be different results.
5 Q    Fine.  And how does that jive with the State's articulated 
6      interest in maintaining a degree of consistency across 
7      common classifications relative to their compensation?
8                ARBITRATOR:  I don't think so.  I get it.  I'm not 
9      sure how much the witness's answer is going to help me 

10      there.  
11                MR. THAL:  Good.  I only care that you get it.  
12 Q    (By Mr. Thal)  So let's now do a different comparison.  
13                ARBITRATOR:  Are we still on 37?  
14                MR. THAL:  We are not.  We're going to back up to 
15      36.  Just one back, no big deal.  We don't need to move 
16      through 600 pages of paper.  
17 Q    (By Mr. Thal)  On direct examination you testified about the 
18      document that your -- I better be careful -- probably 
19      department, generated which summarizes the results of the 
20      2014 total compensation survey and which I've called the 
21      applied range results document.  
22           Is that what we're looking at here as Exhibit 36?
23 A    Yes.
24 Q    And I just want to make sure that I understand the 
25      articulated rationale for linking the Step L of the State 

Page 448

1      employee position to the midpoint of the comparables.  And 

2      if I understood your testimony correctly, you indicated that 

3      there are employers that have open ranges as opposed to 

4      ranges and steps.  Correct?

5 A    Correct.

6 Q    And that, with respect to such employers, the top of that 

7      range does not necessarily correlate in the same way as the 

8      top of the range for the State where the majority of 

9      employees are bunched.  

10           Did I get that basically right?

11 A    Correct.

12 Q    I assume you would agree with me that in the 2014 total 

13      compensation survey there are some employers, such as King 

14      County, that do have ranges and steps like the State.  

15      Correct?

16 A    I don't have direct knowledge of their system, so I just 

17      have to assume that there are employers that have ranges and 

18      steps.

19 Q    And that they, too, like King County as an example, may have 

20      employees that, like the State, are bunched at the top of 

21      the pay progression.  Correct?

22 A    They could, yes.

23 Q    They could.  Okay.  And now I want to compare this document 

24      with Union Exhibit 54.  Ms. Durant, do you recall that, as 

25      we prepared for this interest arbitration, we had a meeting 
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1      in which you and I were present, among others, to discuss 
2      the 2014 total compensation survey results?  
3 A    Was that the meeting where we did a presentation for all of 
4      the unions regarding the changes from the 2010 survey to 
5      2014 survey?  
6 Q    No.  This would have been a meeting with Mr. Klein present 
7      at the Tacoma AGO's in which we talked about the 2014 total 
8      compensation survey results and we did not yet have the 
9      applied range results you see here, but we did have the 

10      Segal report which did eventually form the basis of your 
11      work here.  
12 A    We met there, yes.
13 Q    And do you recall that, during the course of that meeting, I 
14      presented you with a document that looks a lot like this in 
15      terms of trying to analyze the results of the 2014 total 
16      compensation survey?
17 A    No.  I don't recall that, but it's possible, yeah.
18 Q    If you don't have a recollection of it, I guess it's hard to 
19      ask you further questions about it.  
20           Do you recall seeing a document like this before?
21 A    Spencer, I have so many financial documents that look very 
22      similar to that rolling around 26 agreements and all kinds 
23      of 1,600 job classifications, I can't tell you one from the 
24      other.
25                MR. THAL:  All right.  Thank you.  I don't have 
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1      further questions.  
2                ARBITRATOR:  Redirect?  
3                        REDIRECT EXAMINATION
4 BY MR. KLEIN: 
5 Q    In the survey, the 2014 TCS survey, it looked like there 
6      were about half of the employers surveyed were private.  
7      Does that sound about right?  Feel free to go back to page 
8      whatever it was.  
9 A    98, I think it was, right.

10 Q    Yes.  That sounds exactly right.  
11 A    Probably roughly half are private sector.
12 Q    And if you look at page -- rather than counting there, if 
13      you go to page 1 of the report, you'll see page numbers in 
14      the lower right-hand corner.  
15 A    Should I . . . ?
16 Q    Glad to see it's not just me.  
17 A    Yeah, I know.  They're all kind of messed up.  
18                MR. Klein:  Are you there?  
19                ARBITRATOR:  Yes.
20 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Does that indicate sort of the breakdown of 
21      who -- how many respondents were private and public and 
22      state governments?
23 A    Yes.
24 Q    And it looks like it's 39 private, 29 public, and ten state 
25      governments for a total of 78 responses?
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1 A    Yes.  Number of responses, yes.

2 Q    And so you were asked some questions about I think the King 

3      and the four counties that you identified.  So that would 

4      be, if we were doing the math, 478 of the total survey data 

5      would be from the counties, or those counties?

6 A    I didn't count up all the counties.  There may have been 

7      more on that sheet.

8 Q    However many there are would be the enumerator and 78 would 

9      be the denominator?

10 A    Correct, yes.

11                MR. KLEIN:  I have nothing further.  Thank you.  

12                MR. THAL:  May I redirect?  

13                ARBITRATOR:  Let me stick one in.

14                MR. THAL:  Okay.

15                            EXAMINATION

16 BY ARBITRATOR: 

17 Q    I think I know the answer to this, but let me ask it.  I 

18      take this study to proceed in terms of salary schedules.  

19      This is an averaging of salary schedules rather than an 

20      averaging of paychecks.  

21 A    Correct.

22 Q    So it does not reflect the populations, the employee 

23      populations, of the various employers?  An employer who has 

24      six folks in a classification counts no less than an 

25      employer who has 80 in that classification with respect to 

Page 452

1      this salary schedule -- survey?
2 A    You're asking if it's a weighted average -- 
3 Q    Yes.  
4 A    -- versus simple average?  
5 Q    Right.  
6 A    I'm not totally sure about that, honestly, but I can get an 
7      answer.
8                ARBITRATOR:  I think I asked -- 
9                MR. KLEIN:  You asked -- 

10                ARBITRATOR:  -- yesterday about that.
11                MR. KLEIN:  I think you got it's not a weighted 
12      average.  
13                MR. THAL:  It's not weighted.
14                ARBITRATOR:  As I heard myself asking the 
15      question, it sounded awfully familiar.  
16                ARBITRATOR:  Recross?  
17                        RECROSS EXAMINATION
18 BY MR. THAL: 
19 Q    Are the employers -- do you regard the employers that are 
20      surveyed in the 2014 total compensation survey as labor 
21      competitors to the State?  
22 A    I'm not qualified to answer that.  It complies with the 
23      requirements in the statute for us to survey private and 
24      public sector employers of the State.  I'm assuming some of 
25      them are competitors, yes.
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1 Q    Good to know.  Last question, at the risk of pushing more 

2      paper around, on Exhibit 39, do you recognize this document 

3      right here?

4 A    Yes.

5 Q    And that's the Washington State Patrol total compensation 

6      survey that you conducted this year.  Correct?

7 A    Correct.

8 Q    And this --

9 A    Actually Segal Waters conducted on our behalf.

10 Q    On your behalf?

11 A    Yes.

12 Q    And that survey also reviews numerous counties as we can see 

13      here on page 6 of that document.  Correct?

14 A    It does.  

15 Q    Including Clark, King, Pierce, Snohomish, Spokane, Thurston, 

16      and Yakima.  Would you agree?

17 A    It does.

18                MR. THAL:  Thank you.  No further questions.

19                THE WITNESS:  Can I say the reason why?  

20                MR. THAL:  I'm sure your counsel will ask you.

21                ARBITRATOR:  One last round?  

22                    FURTHER REDIRECT EXAMINATION

23 BY MR. KLEIN: 

24 Q    Ms. Durant, I was wondering if you could tell us why.  

25 A    So just as we discussed earlier, we cast a little bit wider 
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1      net in informing our process and we hone in from there for 
2      arbitration or comparable purposes.  The statute for the 
3      patrol also specifies states.  
4           So what we take to arbitration pertaining to the state 
5      patrol is not counties' data.  We use the counties to try 
6      and inform us in terms of what they may come back with so 
7      that we're able to respond, but it's not something that we, 
8      the State, uses as a position in arbitration as a 
9      comparable.

10 Q    The "they" in your answer was the State Trooper's 
11      Association?
12 A    The Trooper's Association, yes.
13                MR. KLEIN:  Thank you.  Nothing further.  
14                ARBITRATOR:  I think this is perhaps to you 
15      gentlemen -- thank you very much -- what's the statute that 
16      directs the State's SGSS survey?  Karen referred to it a 
17      couple of times.
18                THE WITNESS:  I'm sorry?  
19                ARBITRATOR:  Do you know what the statute -- 
20                MR. THAL:  It's 41.06.
21                THE WITNESS:  41.06.160.
22                MR. KLEIN:  One of us will track that down for 
23      you.
24                ARBITRATOR:  Thanks.
25                MR. THAL:  Yeah.  It's -- 
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1                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  Thanks.  Ready to go or do you 

2      want that minute?  

3                MR. KLEIN:  Our next witness is pretty short so 

4      maybe we should just go and do that.  We'll take -- make 

5      sure we're done, but I think that will be our last witness.  

6                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  

7           

8 MELINDA ASLAKSON,           having been first duly sworn,

9                             testified as follows:    

10           

11                ARBITRATOR:  Spell your name for us, please.

12                THE WITNESS:  Melinda, M-e-l-i-n-d-a, Aslakson, 

13      A-s-l-a-k-s-o-n.

14                ARBITRATOR:  Thanks.  

15                         DIRECT EXAMINATION

16 BY MR. KLEIN: 

17 Q    Ms. Aslakson, could you tell us who you work for?

18 A    I work for the Washington State Office of Financial 

19      Management, State Human Resources.

20 Q    And what do you do?

21 A    I am a compensation and policy analyst.  I've been with the 

22      Office of Financial Management for eight years.  During that 

23      time, a majority of those years I spent as a management 

24      analyst, working in the Labor Relations Division where I 

25      provided -- where I managed operations and provided support 
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1      to collective bargaining by conducting research and 

2      performing data analysis.  

3           Over the last year of my role, transitioned to that of 

4      compensation and policy analyst.  In that role, I provide 

5      financial analysis and support and policy recommendations as 

6      it relates to a specific portfolio of collective bargaining 

7      agreements.  Among those is the Teamsters as well as general 

8      government, higher education, Washington State Patrol 

9      Troopers and Lieutenants Associations.

10 Q    Do you have the white notebook in front of you?  If you 

11      don't, could you please get it.  

12 A    (Witness complies.)

13 Q    I would like you to look at Exhibit 4-9 and 4-10.  

14 A    Okay.  

15 Q    Do you have those in front of you?

16 A    Yes.

17 Q    Can you identify 4-9 for us, please, tell us what this is?

18 A    This is a report that was prepared by our division that 

19      lists the total State employees per job class in the 

20      Teamsters bargaining unit for those nonunique classes, and 

21      it shows where those classes appear within other agencies to 

22      give -- to inform how many other agencies are using those 

23      classifications and how many employees are within those 

24      classifications among the agencies that are using those.

25 Q    So let's -- 
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1                ARBITRATOR:  Sorry.  Middle of the afternoon 

2      blank.  Do it one more time.

3                MR. KLEIN:  Actually, can I try it -- 

4                ARBITRATOR:  You may.  

5                MR. KLEIN:  -- a little bit different way?  I 

6      think it will be more clear.

7                ARBITRATOR:  I think I could have followed, if 

8      only I had been here.

9 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  So could you grab 4-10 as well and sort of 

10      keep both 4-9 and 4-10 together.  

11 A    Okay.

12 Q    Let's start with administrative assistant 1.  On 4-9 and 

13      that shows that there are ten employees in eight different 

14      departments?

15 A    Correct.

16 Q    And so can I then use 4-10 to get me more information about 

17      that?

18 A    Yes.

19 Q    And can you walk me through that?

20 A    So the example, administrative assistant on line 1, number 

21      of employees, 10; number of agencies or departments where 

22      administrative assistant 1 appears is right below in 4-10.  

23      So we can see that Department of Commerce, Corrections, Fish 

24      and Wildlife, Health, Natural Resources, OMWBE, Parks, and 

25      the Arts Commission all use the administrative assistant 
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1      classification, and then we get a count of how many people 

2      are in that.  

3 Q    And how about with administrative assistant 2?

4 A    It goes on to show how many by agency are appearing for the 

5      administrative assistant 2 within the agency and then the 

6      number of employees.

7 Q    And so I could look at 4-9 and see that there are 20 

8      different agencies or departments, and then if I'm 

9      interested in who those -- what those departments or 

10      agencies are, I could go look at 4-10 and see the names of 

11      the departments and how many employees there are in each of 

12      those.  Is that my -- do I have it?

13 A    Correct.

14                ARBITRATOR:  It looks -- 

15 A    It looks like 4-10 is just a snapshot where it appears and 

16      not an entire representation of each classification class 

17      that's listed in 4-9.

18 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Right.  It's just for administrative 

19      assistant?

20 A    Example.  

21 Q    We saved some trees.  

22 A    That would be a big document.

23 Q    Indeed.  

24           And I think -- is administrative assistant 3 one of the 

25      benchmarks that was used in the survey, do you remember, in 
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1      the TCS survey?
2 A    It sounds right.  I would need to refer back to the survey.
3 Q    That's okay.  We won't go there.  
4                ARBITRATOR:  The statewide survey, is that what 
5      you're talking about?  
6                MR. KLEIN:  Yes, yes, the TCS survey.  No problem.  
7 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Could I next have you look at Exhibit 4-19.  
8 A    Maybe I could share?  
9 Q    It's not in that book?

10 A    No.
11                ARBITRATOR:  Let's fix that.
12                MR. THAL:  I have it here.  We have another one.
13 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Can you identify this for us, please?
14 A    This is a document we received from the Teamsters, 
15      identifying those classifications and where there is a 
16      supervisor or subordinate relationship that would qualify 
17      for the 12 and a half percent supervisory differential that 
18      the union has proposed.  
19           It has the job class code, job class title, the range 
20      associated with that job class, and I entered in the range 
21      differential that would need to be applied to the 
22      highlighted classification in order to create the 12 and a 
23      half percent differential and then also included what that 
24      new range would be.
25 Q    So can you just walk us through the office assistant since 
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1      that's at the top of the list?
2 A    So the office assistant 3 is currently a range 31.  So the 
3      office assistant 2, because this was highlighted as a 
4      supervisory position, I looked to the office assistant 2, 
5      which is three ranges below, and I know that that is three 
6      ranges times 2.5 because that's the increment between each 
7      step, so that's a 7 and a half percent differential.  To get 
8      to the 12, you need to add 5.  So I included the 5 percent.  
9      That translates to a new range of 33.  

10           And so then if you go to the next one, the office 
11      assistant lead, we could infer because the office   
12      assistant 3 would be a range 33.  The office assistant lead 
13      would need to be five ranges above the 3, which makes the 
14      new range for the office assistant lead a 38, and the 
15      differential or increase to that classification would be 
16      12.5 percent.
17 Q    And did you go through and make a similar calculation for 
18      each of areas which had been shaded with the yellow?
19 A    Yes.
20 Q    Could you next go to Exhibit 4-4, 4-5, for me?
21 A    (Witness complies.)
22                MR. THAL:  Here's where I am hoping to accelerate 
23      by stipulating.
24                MR. KLEIN:  I don't intend to take a lot of time.  
25      We'll spend more time drafting our stipulation.
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1                MR. THAL:  Okay.  
2 A    So 4-4.
3 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Yes.  
4 A    This is a summary document that captures the employer's 
5      final compensation position to the Teamsters.  It includes a 
6      3 percent general wage increase effective in fiscal year  
7      '16, so July 1, 2015, for 5,985 budgeted positions, totaling 
8      $21 million, all funds.
9 Q    And $21 million is the cost across --

10 A    For the biennium.
11 Q    By the end of the biennium?
12 A    It also includes our offer of targeted job classification 
13      increases that were put forth by the agency as priorities.
14 Q    Those are the ones that Ms. Mitchell went through this 
15      morning?
16 A    Yes.  So that cost is almost $2 million for the biennium and 
17      would become effective on July 1 of 2015.  The 
18      classifications impacted and the raises those 
19      classifications would receive is included in the footnote.  
20 Q    And so the total of those two proposals over the biennium 
21      looks like $23 million?
22 A    Correct, all funds.
23 Q    And did you then go through on the -- 
24                ARBITRATOR:  Hang on.  I'm having a hard time 
25      pulling out the numbers.
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1                THE WITNESS:  I'm sorry.  There's 678.  Here.    
2      One -- I'm sorry.  Here.  No.  I'm here.  
3                ARBITRATOR:  That explains it.  
4                THE WITNESS:  The employer's position.
5 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Let's take it from the top, if you could.  
6                ARBITRATOR:  Yes, please.  
7 A    So this is -- 
8                THE WITNESS:  I'm sorry.
9                ARBITRATOR:  Yeah.  Okay.  So we got Teamsters on 

10      one side and the agency on the other.
11                THE WITNESS:  Yes.  
12                ARBITRATOR:  Those two-sided documents.  Okay.  
13      Got you.  
14 A    So this outlines the employer's final compensation position 
15      for this -- these bargaining units.  And we've proposed a    
16      3 percent general wage increase effective July 1, 2015, 
17      impacting 5,985 budgeted positions.  The biennial, cost all 
18      funds, is $21 million.  
19           And then it also includes the targeted job 
20      classification specific increases that Ann touch on this 
21      morning, affecting 211 positions.  They're also included in 
22      the footnote, those affected and the rates, for a total of 
23      $2 million over the biennium and overall $23 million.
24 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Could you flip the page over and tell us 
25      what we have here?



KLEIN (Melinda Aslakson, 8/20/14)                               

Dixie Cattell & Associates (360) 352-2506

33 (Pages 463 to 466)

Page 463

1 A    This is the projected cost of the Teamsters 117 final 
2      compensation position.  So if I just start from the top, the 
3      first item is 10 percent premium above other corresponding 
4      schedules effective July 1, 2015.  This increase assumes a   
5      3 percent general wage increase is applied to the general 
6      service salary schedule.  
7           And in order to maintain that 10 percent above the 
8      general service, I applied an 11.7 percent increase, so that 
9      is because the current Teamsters' schedule is 1.3 percent 

10      above the general.  In order to maintain the 10 percent 
11      above, I have to take account for the -- for a 3 percent 
12      general wage increase to the general service schedule.  So 
13      all funds for the biennium, almost $82 million for that 
14      item.
15                ARBITRATOR:  Hang on.  
16                THE WITNESS:  Okay.  
17                ARBITRATOR:  11.7, was that?  
18                THE WITNESS:  Correct.  
19                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  
20                THE WITNESS:  Additionally, the Teamsters has 
21      asked for a 4 percent cost-of-living increase adjustment 
22      effective 7/1/2015.  The total cost for that compensation 
23      item is $28 million for the biennium, all funds.  
24           They then asked for implementation of 25 percent of the 
25      difference between current salaries and other jurisdictions 
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1      according to salary surveys.  I, in arriving at the cost of 
2      $4 million, all funds for the biennium, I took into --
3                ARBITRATOR:  How did you understand that proposal?  
4      Maybe it's clearer in the language of the proposal itself.
5                MR. THAL:  I think the footnote speaks to it.
6                THE WITNESS:  Yeah.
7                ARBITRATOR:  Let me take a look.  Just a second.  
8                THE WITNESS:  Well, so the proposal indicates -- 
9      well, I'll let you . . .

10                ARBITRATOR:  Go ahead and tell me, please.
11                THE WITNESS:  I was just going to say what the 
12      footnote said.  
13 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  With regard to calculating the catch-up, was 
14      that -- did you credit, if you will, or assume that the 
15      initial 10 percent and the 4 percent had both been awarded 
16      to everybody such that the calculation of the catchup would 
17      reduce that amount from wherever the -- 
18 A    The difference to market.
19 Q    -- the data showed that they were?  Is that correct?
20 A    Yes.
21 Q    And then whatever that number is, you would take 25 percent 
22      of that?
23 A    Yes.
24 Q    That was a look of you're not sure?
25 A    Well, I rounded the percentage, the overall percentage, to 
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1      reach market, from the onset, and then I took into 
2      consideration the general wage increase, the --
3 Q    The 10 percent?
4 A    Yes, the prison premium.  Sorry.  I just saw only premium.  
5      The 10 percent above the general service and the COLA to 
6      arrive at a difference of the salary -- of salary survey or 
7      difference to market.  
8                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  
9 A    I took 25 percent of that.

10                ARBITRATOR:  We're going to save the record for a 
11      couple minutes, and I'm going to walk around the building a 
12      few times.  Of course you hit this right at naptime.  
13      Naptime is 2:30 and we're like 2:35.  Nice going.  Yeah.
14                MR. KLEIN:  Just can't fool you.
15                ARBITRATOR:  Well, I could just recite the cost, 
16      but it would be ever so much nicer if I actually understood 
17      where the numbers came from.  
18                                     (Recessed at 2:40 p.m.)
19                                     (Reconvened at 2:52 p.m.)
20                ARBITRATOR:  Back on the record and the turning to 
21      the elimination of 20 percent of the difference between 
22      current salaries and other jurisdictions according to the 
23      broad salary survey.  
24                THE WITNESS:  Surveys.
25                ARBITRATOR:  Surveys.  
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1                THE WITNESS:  Two.
2 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Could you just walk us through that?
3 A    High level?  
4 Q    Yes.  
5 A    And it says surveys because I looked to the general salary 
6      survey as well as the DOC survey and I deferred to the 
7      general survey for any classification that is not unique to 
8      DOC.  And then I referred to the DOC survey, for example, 
9      corrections and custody officer.  

10           The analysis to arrive at the difference to market, a 
11      percentage behind, we looked at, in the general survey, the 
12      survey average midpoint to -- as it compares to Step L.  I 
13      did the same in the -- for those classifications that I -- 
14                ARBITRATOR:  Step L is the top -- 
15                THE WITNESS:  Top step.
16                ARBITRATOR:  -- nonlongevity step?  
17                THE WITNESS:  Yes.
18                MR. THAL:  Correct.  
19                ARBITRATOR:  With the midpoint of the market?  
20                THE WITNESS:  Survey average midpoint.  Midpoint 
21      is derived from the min and the max, so I applied that same 
22      methodology to the DOC survey.
23 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Since there's three different places when 
24      this comes up on here, we have one, the first 25 percent, 
25      then there's another 25 percent, and then there's later a   
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1      50 percent.  Let's just sort of roll with the discussion for 
2      all of those together, since they relate to each other.  
3           The first 25 percent is you began by taking whatever 
4      the difference was to -- you divided that by 4 so you have    
5      25 percent and then you rounded that up to the closest 
6      range.  Is that correct?
7 A    No. 
8 Q    Okay.  
9 A    Okay.  So I -- 

10                ARBITRATOR:  Nice try.  Thanks for playing.  
11                MR. KLEIN:  Can I go walk around the building?  
12 A    Close.  I -- from the onset, I looked at both of the 
13      surveys -- 
14 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Right.  
15 A    -- established the percentage behind, and then separately I 
16      ran the scenarios to capture the increases for the previous 
17      items:  the 10 percent premium and the 4 percent cost-of- 
18      living increase.
19                ARBITRATOR:  So let's suppose for widget makers -- 
20                THE WITNESS:  Yes.
21                ARBITRATOR:  -- the midpoint of the SGSS survey is 
22      30 percent higher than the top nonlongevity step in the 
23      current bargaining unit.  So it's 30 percent rather than 25.  
24           Do you understand this proposal to require those 
25      employees to have a 5 percent bump?  
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1                MR. THAL:  Oh, my God. 
2                ARBITRATOR:  Is that totally wrong, Spencer?  
3                MR. THAL:  Totally wrong.  
4                ARBITRATOR:  Well, let's keep two different things 
5      separate because I want to understand how she did the 
6      costing, which is not necessarily the same thing as how you 
7      understood your proposal.  
8                THE WITNESS:  I hope we have -- 
9                ARBITRATOR:  I hope those two match.

10                THE WITNESS:  Share the same understanding.  
11           So in reviewing Spencer's proposal, it said -- 
12                ARBITRATOR:  Let's go back to my widget maker 
13      example.
14                THE WITNESS:  Okay.
15                ARBITRATOR:  Widget makers, the midpoint of the 
16      SGSS broad survey is 30 percent higher than the top 
17      nonlongevity step for widget makers.
18                THE WITNESS:  So it's 30 percent above market?  
19                MR. THAL:  Behind.
20                ARBITRATOR:  Behind market.
21                MR. KLEIN:  Behind.
22                ARBITRATOR:  We are 30 percent behind market.     
23                THE WITNESS:  Okay.
24                ARBITRATOR:  How then do we fulfill this proposal 
25      with respect to that classification?  
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1                THE WITNESS:  They're 30 percent behind?  
2                ARBITRATOR:  Yes.
3                THE WITNESS:  The gap that I'm trying to close is 
4      30 percent over the biennium.
5                MR. THAL:  After -- 
6                MR. KLEIN:  Can I jump in?  I don't think that's 
7      what you've done.  Sorry.
8                THE WITNESS:  No.
9                MR. KLEIN:  You have the earlier increases that 

10      have been awarded, so you have the 10 percent over that 
11      includes -- you have the general government goes up by      
12      3 percent.  
13                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.
14                MR. KLEIN:  So then you go -- on that number, we 
15      have to put a 10.
16                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  Okay.
17                MR. KLEIN:  Then we have a 4.  So that's         
18      17 percent.  
19                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  So now we -- 
20                MR. KLEIN:  Now the 30 becomes 13.  
21                MR. THAL:  The 30 percent becomes 13 because we've 
22      moved them up 17 percent already.
23                THE WITNESS:  That's correct.
24                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  So then they do not require 
25      any remedial action under the -- 
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1                MR. THAL:  They do require remedial action.  They 
2      require remedial action of that 13 percent.  Right.  There's 
3      a 13 percent -- they're still 13 percent behind because 
4      we've only raised them 17 percent.  This is where you were 
5      getting confused because the 25 percent isn't about the old 
6      system of bringing someone up to 25 percent behind market.  
7      What it's saying is, of that 13 percent deficiency, how much 
8      are we going to cure in year one, how much are we going to 
9      cure at beginning of year two, and how much are we going to 

10      cure at the end, 25 percent of the 13 percent.
11                ARBITRATOR:  So we're going to cure the entire   
12      13 percent over the course of the contract, but the last 
13      bite of that happens on the final day of the biennium?  
14                MR. THAL:  You got it.
15                ARBITRATOR:  And we have two smaller nibbles as we 
16      go through the biennial period.
17                MR. THAL:  You got it.
18                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  Got it.  
19                THE WITNESS:  That's correct.
20 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Good.  Would you like us to do one more and 
21      tell us if we got it?  
22                MR. THAL:  I told you we should stipulate.
23                MR. KLEIN:  I'm sure I'll hear about my decision 
24      later from you.
25 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  So with regard to -- I want to stick with 
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1      the 13 percent that was in the example we just talked about.  
2      So if you divide that by 4 -- 
3 A    Um-hmm.
4 Q    -- you get 3 and one quarter percent.  
5 A    I'll trust you.
6 Q    The first 3 and a quarter percent, you have to round up to 
7      the nearest range, which is going to be 5 percent.  Is that 
8      correct?  Because you go 2 and a half and 5.  
9 A    Correct.

10 Q    So, then again, now you have the second -- you have the 
11      second time around, you have to do the same thing again.  
12 A    Well, can I stop you?  
13 Q    Yes, please.  
14 A    I know this is just illustrative purposes, but is the 
15      cost -- the proposal said to round to the nearest range.  
16      And so in some instances that meant to round down to next   
17      2 and a half increment, so I would say this is a 
18      conservative estimate.  But, yes, I took 25 percent, rounded 
19      to the next -- rounded to the 2 and a half percent increment 
20      and applied that difference in that year.  
21           And then in a subsequent implementation, I took into 
22      account, for example, the -- then applying a 12 and a half 
23      percent or any lower increment of the supervisory 
24      differential or the 3 percent cost-of-living adjustment and 
25      then subtracted those from the remaining difference to 
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1      market and applied either 25 percent of that in the second 

2      fiscal year, so July 1 of 2016, or I applied -- it wasn't 

3      pretty -- or I applied the same amount that was applied in 

4      year 1, which was 25 percent originally and then any balance 

5      was applied on the last day of the biennium.  

6                ARBITRATOR:  Let me ask you about the last day of 

7      the biennium because we got amounts for -- okay.  

8                THE WITNESS:  Yeah.  

9                ARBITRATOR:  So the cost -- the cost of that is 

10      trivial because it happens on the last day, but it's massive 

11      for the following biennium?  

12                THE WITNESS:  Exactly.

13                MR. THAL:  Footnote 6.  

14                ARBITRATOR:  Got it.  Thank you.  

15 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Did you also include in here a credit for if 

16      you no longer had the geo pay?

17 A    Correct.  That is ID 29.54, Appendix F, eliminate reference 

18      29, geographic location pay, which results in approximately 

19      $9.5 million in savings.

20 Q    If you did max to max, or mid to mid, or something -- some 

21      other formulation rather than Step L to mid, would that 

22      increase the dollars?

23 A    Yes.

24 Q    But --

25 A    It could be significant, depending on how the F analysis was 
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1      performed.

2                ARBITRATOR:  What's 29.186?  The 7/1/16, is this 

3      an additional 3 percent COLA proposal for the second year?  

4                THE WITNESS:  Yes.  

5 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  And then are there two -- as long as we have 

6      you here, two items that we're going to be dealing with on 

7      Monday dealing with -- one is 32.16 and the other is 32.17?

8 A    The Union's proposed that LPN's receive supplemental shift 

9      premiums.

10 Q    Correct.  And also -- 

11 A    So we looked at the number --

12 Q    You can just tell me how much it is rather than the --

13 A    Okay.  Sorry.  $232,000 all funds for the biennium.

14 Q    How about the second proposal?

15 A    The Union has proposed overtime exempt employees receive a 

16      $100 increase to stand-by pay.  All funds for the biennium, 

17      $1.4 million.  So the grand total of the Teamsters' final 

18      compensation position is $123,915,839 all funds for the 

19      biennium.

20 Q    And then on the next exhibit, which is 4-5, did you compare 

21      the two?

22 A    Yes.  So this just captures the total from the previous 

23      exhibit, 4-4, for the Teamsters' proposal, less the 

24      employer's proposal, for a difference of $100,910,626 all 

25      funds for the biennium.  

Page 474

1 Q    And just so it's clear, the changes -- all of the changes in 

2      here are just for this bargaining unit alone.  It doesn't 

3      make assumptions about ripple effects, if you will, either 

4      to others in DOC or to others at the State?

5 A    That's correct.

6 Q    Could you look at 2-14 and 2-15, please?

7 A    (Witness complies.)

8 Q    Could you tell us first what 2-14 is?

9 A    This is a report displaying turnover data for ten different 

10      agencies giving for -- over three-year period.  And it 

11      provides the average number of employees during that time 

12      period, the number of turnover actions, and the total 

13      percentage of turnover by agency by year.  

14           So for the Department of Corrections, we can see 2012, 

15      their turnover rate overall was 4.3 percent; 2013,         

16      4.5 percent; and 2014, year to date, 2.8 percent.

17 Q    And the year-to-date number will obviously increase once you 

18      added in the rest of the year so we have a full year there.  

19      Is that correct?

20                ARBITRATOR:  No.  Why would it obviously increase?  

21                MR. KLEIN:  I'm assuming somebody will also leave.

22                ARBITRATOR:  Yeah.  But it's -- okay.  Okay.  

23 A    It will -- unless there's a significant change in the number 

24      of employees or the number of turnover actions, we might 

25      expect those to continue along the same path and the numbers 
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1      could stay the same or they could change.

2 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  And is this a report that's generated by the 

3      office -- by your office?

4 A    Yes.  It came out of our division, the HR.

5 Q    And in these -- in this calculation, do you -- how do you 

6      treat an employee that is in an agency and moves -- stays at 

7      the State but goes to a different agency?  Is that 

8      considered a separation or is that not considered a 

9      separation?

10 A    That's not considered a separation.

11 Q    And why is that?

12 A    We consider separation a resignation, an employee moves out 

13      of the vicinity.

14 Q    So when someone leaves the State?

15 A    Yeah.  Maybe the conditions of their employment were not met 

16      and so their employment ends.  

17 Q    Is this sort of consistent with Ms. Durant's discussion of 

18      the one Washington -- one employer -- 

19 A    Yeah.  We don't -- 

20 Q    -- concept?

21 A    We don't consider -- it's termed churnover, turnover.  We 

22      want to encourage promotional opportunities within the State 

23      and within the agency.  So at the same time, it doesn't 

24      include retirement or death, for example.  We also don't 

25      include nonpermanent appointments because we anticipate 
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1      those will -- they're not permanent.

2 Q    That's part of the condition?

3 A    Yes.

4 Q    Can you then look at -- 

5                ARBITRATOR:  Hang on just one second.

6                MR. KLEIN:  Yes.

7                ARBITRATOR:  Are these calendar years?  

8                THE WITNESS:  Yes.

9                ARBITRATOR:  Thanks.  

10 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Can you look at Exhibit 2-15 for me, please.  

11 A    Yes.

12 Q    Is this a breakdown within the DOC that was done by the HR  

13      office?

14 A    Yes.  So you can see --

15 Q    These are full years of 2012 and '13 and I think there was 

16      the partial year of '14, which I'll have to supplement 

17      because I see it doesn't seem to be here.  

18 A    Yeah.  It looks like 2013, 2012 by classification, an 

19      average number of the employees during that time period, the 

20      total turnover actions and then percentage of turnover,     

21      so . . .

22                MR. KLEIN:  I have nothing further.  Thank you.

23                ARBITRATOR:  You want to tell me what these 

24      exciting documents are so that I can add them?  4.23 is the 

25      WFSE MOU.  
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1                MR. KLEIN:  Right.  

2                ARBITRATOR:  And 4.24?  

3                MR. KLEIN:  Is the classifications impacted by the 

4      agreement between the Federation and the State on the DOC -- 

5      those Federation classifications that were also in the 117 

6      bargaining unit.  

7           So, for instance, at the top, correctional records tech 

8      was -- there was a 1.3 difference between the Teamster unit 

9      and the Federation, so this would add that 1.3 percent to 

10      that and then in the far right, you would see the number of 

11      Federation employees who are in, in that case, it's 44.  

12           And Ms. Roberts wanted us to point out that when she, 

13      this morning, thought there were 45 corrections and custody 

14      officer 2's, she was spot on.  

15                MR. THAL:  Do we have anything on the 3's?  I was 

16      not sure about that.

17                MR. KLEIN:  Yeah.  It's in there.  It is there.  

18      It's on your exhibit.

19                THE WITNESS:  There are 3's.

20                MR. THAL:  There are three 3's?  

21                MR. KLEIN:  Just put it away just a second.  Yes, 

22      3's.

23                MR. THAL:  I see you have the count on there.

24                MR. KLEIN:  Yes.  It's the far right column.  Is 

25      there one in your book?  
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1                THE WITNESS:  Yes.
2                MR. KLEIN:  That's -- 
3                THE WITNESS:  There's one in here.
4                MR. KLEIN:  Thank you.
5                MR. THAL:  Why don't we just roll them into our 
6      bargaining unit?  
7                ARBITRATOR:  Elegant.
8                MR. KLEIN:  Are we done, if that happens?  
9                MR. THAL:  You heard my boss.  

10                MR. KLEIN:  I thought that was Michelle, for sure.
11                THE WITNESS:  Are we done with Melinda?  
12                MR. THAL:  We need a moment to talk with the boss 
13      about that.
14                ARBITRATOR:  Off the record.
15                                     (Recessed at 3:13 p.m.)
16                                     (Reconvened at 3:16 p.m.)
17                MR. THAL:  We're not crossing the witness.
18                ARBITRATOR:  Thank you.  We're done?  
19                MR. KLEIN:  I think we're done, but I'd like to 
20      take a few minutes, make sure we don't have any.
21                ARBITRATOR:  Sure.  
22                                     (Recessed at 3:16 p.m.)
23                                     (Reconvened at 3:31 p.m.)
24                ARBITRATOR:  Back on the record.  The agency 
25      rests, more or less.  
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1                MR. THAL:  That's a really good way of putting it.
2                MR. KLEIN:  Agreed.
3                ARBITRATOR:  And we turn to the next witness in 
4      the Union's case in chief.
5      
6 TRACEY THOMPSON,            having been first duly sworn,
7                             testified as follows:    
8           
9                ARBITRATOR:  Spell your name for us, please. 

10                THE WITNESS:  Tracey, T-r-a-c-e-y, last name 
11      Thompson, T-h-o-m-p-s-o-n.
12                ARBITRATOR:  Thank you.  
13           Spencer?  
14                MR. THAL:  Thank you.
15                         DIRECT EXAMINATION
16 BY MR. THAL:
17 Q    Ms. Thompson, where do you work and what is your position?
18 A    I'm the secretary-treasurer for Teamsters Local 117.
19 Q    And what do you do?  What are your responsibilities as 
20      secretary-treasurer?
21 A    I am the principal officer of the Union.  I'm responsible 
22      for managing all of the financial and administrative affairs 
23      of the union and negotiate collective bargaining agreements.  
24      I assure administrational contracts and I oversee a staff of 
25      approximately 40 employees.
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1 Q    And how do your responsibilities relate to the Department of 

2      Corrections bargaining unit?

3 A    The Department of Corrections bargaining unit is our single 

4      largest bargaining unit and the most important bargaining 

5      unit to our local union.  And I have been involved at many 

6      different levels, but certainly involved in the negotiations 

7      of our contracts for the last several contract cycles.

8 Q    Approximately how many members in the Department of 

9      Corrections bargaining unit and how does that compare with 

10      the total of the local union's membership?

11 A    We have something less than 6,000 members.  I thought it was 

12      around 5,700.  I heard a 5,985 number earlier today.  Our 

13      total local size is approximately 16,000, so the Department 

14      of Corrections is 40 percent of the union's membership.

15 Q    Thank you for that.  

16           So I want to talk to you about a couple of unique 

17      features of the compensation structure for the Department of 

18      Corrections bargaining unit.  And the first is what we've 

19      referred to as the prison premium or the 1.3 percent.  

20           Are you familiar with that?

21 A    I am.

22 Q    So looking at what has been marked there as Exhibit 4-20, if 

23      you flip to the second page of that document, I want to 

24      direct your attention to the date in the left-hand column, 

25      of July 1, 2006, which is several lines down.  
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1 A    Correct.

2 Q    And on July 1 of 2006, the first entry indicates a        

3      1.6 percent increase, and can you indicate, tell us, what 

4      does that relate to, if you know?

5 A    So the 1.6 percent increase was the across-the-board 

6      increase given to all repped and nonrepped, I believe, 

7      employees effective 7/1/06.

8 Q    But then down below, we see for 7/1/06 a 2.9 percent number.  

9      What does that -- what does that apply to?

10 A    Right.  This is the beginning of the Teamsters salary 

11      schedule where that 2.9 percent reflects the 1.6 percent 

12      across the board, plus the 1.3 percent prison premium for 

13      Teamsters only.

14 Q    Can you describe for the arbitrator how that prison premium 

15      is viewed by the bargaining unit and the union and its 

16      relative importance to the overall compensation structure?

17 A    Well, as we've been saying to the Department for a long time 

18      actually, since we got this, it's not enough, but it's 

19      absolutely essential that we have a compensation structure 

20      that reflects the incredibly unique nature of working inside 

21      a prison.  

22           And so the concept of the prison premium is incredibly 

23      important to our membership.  They know that their work is 

24      quantitatively different than everybody else's work in state 

25      government, and it's just incredibly important to them, to 

Page 482

1      the bargaining unit, that their compensation reflects the 
2      unique nature of their work.
3 Q    And how then has that translated as bargaining has 

4      progressed over the years?  Has the State of Washington done 

5      anything to increase or expand upon that premium over the 

6      years?

7 A    No.  The 1.3 percent has remained 1.3 percent since its 
8      inception in July of 2006.  There have been some other 
9      premiums that have come into effect, but they're 

10      classification and facility specific, not a general 
11      Teamsters prisoner -- prison employee, prison premium.
12 Q    I want to focus your attention now on a second feature of 

13      the compensation structure at the Department of Corrections, 

14      and that's reflected in a different exhibit that I'm going 

15      to move you to in the first black notebook.  

16                MR. KLEIN:  Can you give me a number so I know 

17      where to go?  

18                MR. THAL:  Yeah.  Let's just use Exhibit 2.

19                MR. KLEIN:  Thank you.  

20                MR. THAL:  It will be towards the back, starting 

21      on page A-26.  

22                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  

23 Q    (By Mr. Thal)  So, Ms. Thompson, at Exhibit 2 there is the 

24      current collective bargaining agreement, and you're looking 

25      at a compensation appendix there.  
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1           Do you recognize this appendix?

2 A    I do.

3 Q    And how would you describe it?  What is going on here in 

4      this appendix?

5 A    So this reflects what we've been calling geo pay.  So there 

6      are three facilities -- Coyote Ridge, Monroe, and Walla 

7      Walla -- where certain classifications in those facilities 

8      are given range adjustments over and above everybody else in 

9      those classifications in other facilities.  

10           So, for example, you'll see the first one on page A-26, 

11      classification counselor 1, one range.  So the class- -- and 

12      classification counselor 2 and 3.  The classification 

13      counselors at Coyote Ridge make 2 and a half percent more 

14      than classification counselors at Stafford Creek or Shelton 

15      or Clallam Bay.  So there's a distinction between the pay 

16      for folks doing the same work at some facilities as opposed 

17      to those folks at others.

18 Q    Now, you've indicated that there's a 2 and a half percent 

19      differential for classification counselors.  What other 

20      classifications are affected by this geo pay?

21 A    Well, the custody, so custody officers and sergeants, 

22      officers 1 and 2, other officers, and officer 3 is the 

23      sergeants, they, at these three facilities, make two ranges 

24      more than employees in those same classifications at other 

25      facilities.  So that's 5 percent higher pay at Monroe, Walla 
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1      Walla, and Coyote Ridge for custody officers.
2 Q    I think we'll also find a licensed practical nurse?

3 A    Correct.  So there were a couple other classifications and 
4      that came in -- and, frankly, Spencer, I think some of these 
5      came in at a later time during midterm bargaining that we 
6      had, but at Monroe, the LPN 2 makes 5 percent more than    
7      LPN 2's anywhere else.  And the psychologist 4 at Monroe 
8      makes 5 percent more than psychologist 4's anywhere else.
9 Q    Do you have an understanding as to how this geo pay or 

10      location pay originally came to -- came into existence in 

11      the collective bargaining agreement?

12 A    It came into existence based on the State's assertion that 
13      they believed that they had recruitment and retention 
14      problems in these particular classifications at these 
15      particular facilities.  And their proposal to remedy those 
16      problems was to make the difficult jobs more palatable to 
17      employees coming into the Department of Corrections by 
18      paying them higher at those facilities.
19 Q    How has this geo pay or location pay been perceived and how 

20      has it affected the bargaining unit?

21 A    This is the single most divisive thing in our bargaining 
22      unit.  It has really created an incredible amount of anger 
23      and morale issues.  You know, you have a closed custody 
24      facility like Clallam Bay where the folks there are working 
25      around the same custody level, high violent criminals as the 
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1      folks in Walla Walla, yet Walla Walla custody are getting 
2      paid 5 percent more.  And every bargain since this came in, 
3      it has been a clear directive of our members, you've got to 
4      get rid of that geo pay.  It's unfair.  It doesn't make 
5      sense and we've got to get rid of it.
6 Q    Now, you've indicated there's a tension as between 
7      corrections officers, for example, at Clallam Bay who 
8      receive it, whereas -- who do not receive it, whereas at 
9      Walla Walla they do.  

10           But what about within a facility where the geo pay is 
11      granted to some classifications at Walla Walla or at Monroe, 
12      for example?
13 A    Correct.  It's the same problem where, you know, people 
14      within a facility who are within a particular 
15      classification, but they're at that facility where folks are 
16      earning 2 and a half percent or 5 percent more than others 
17      in those classifications across the state, it's the same 
18      sort of problem.  It's divisive.  There's some morale 
19      issues.  Again, it doesn't make a lot of sense.  If you're 
20      going to be singling out particular facilities, you might as 
21      well single out every employee in those facilities.
22 Q    We've had some testimony earlier in this hearing about a 
23      correctional officer death within the Washington State 
24      Department of Corrections system.  
25           Were you aware of and involved in this incident?
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1 A    Yes.  You're talking about Jayme Biendl's death?  

2 Q    Yes.  

3 A    Yes.

4 Q    So can you describe for the arbitrator what came in the 

5      aftermath of that death relative to the Union's efforts in 

6      the lobbying context?

7                ARBITRATOR:  What was the date?  

8                THE WITNESS:  January 2011.

9                ARBITRATOR:  Thanks.  

10 A    And it actually slightly preceding Jayme Biendl's death 

11      because we were frustrated with the collective bargaining 

12      process.  With the State, every round of bargaining it was 

13      cookie cutter.  We offer you what we offer everybody else.  

14      We're not going to give you anything different.  

15           And so we had begun an initiative to try to move 

16      legislation to achieve interest arbitration legislatively 

17      for corrections employees.  And that effort began -- you 

18      know, we stuck our toe in the water in 2010.  

19           But really after Jayme Biendl's death, we -- every 

20      legislative session, we're pushing our efforts to achieve 

21      interest arbitration for our members to address compensation 

22      issues obviously, but also some real concerns around safety.

23 Q    (By Mr. Thal)  So I want to now focus on your experience in 

24      the round of collective bargaining immediately preceding 

25      this round, and if you could describe for the arbitrator how 
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1      that went and the bargaining unit's reaction to it in light 

2      of this lobbying effort for interest arbitration.  

3 A    So at the outset of that bargain, as we've done in the last 

4      several, made it very clear to the State that we had two 

5      significant objectives that we absolutely needed to 

6      accomplish.  

7           One was increasing the prison premium to accomplish the 

8      recognition that the work that these folks do inside a 

9      prison is different than working anywhere else in the State.  

10      And the second was to fix the geo pay problem.  You know, we 

11      explained how divisive it is, and I don't think there was 

12      any surprise on the part of management within the Department 

13      about that.  

14           So we were very clear in our bargaining at the outset 

15      that these were things we needed to accomplish.  

16      Unfortunately, the State was not receptive and we got the 

17      same sort of, you know, this is what we're offering everyone 

18      else.  They're getting Step M.  We're not interested in 

19      bargaining anything different.  

20           In fact, I really tried just to take even the value of 

21      Step M, where there was a lot of information requests back 

22      from me to the State.  How much will Step M cost the State?  

23      What we want to do is spread it across the bargaining unit 

24      for everybody who is not in group C.  Group C is that group 

25      of employees in the collective bargaining agreement who earn 
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1      a range or two ranges more than everybody else.  

2           And so we had the State cost, what would that result in 

3      for a wage increase, what percentage increase would that be 

4      for everybody not in group C if we just took the value of 

5      what you're offering and spread it across the rest of the 

6      bargaining unit?  They gave us the information, but said 

7      they weren't going to bargain that.  Their marching orders 

8      were to give the Department of Corrections prison employees 

9      the same deal that anybody else got.

10 Q    What did the actual pattern look like in terms of the 

11      presentation of proposal and counterproposal during the 

12      bargaining process?

13 A    I'm not quite sure what you mean, but I will tell you that 

14      the initial proposal that we got from the State was almost 

15      identical to their best and final proposal.  There might 

16      have been one minor premium tweak or something, but it was 

17      exactly -- otherwise exactly the same.

18           So there was no -- no movement, no real bargaining that 

19      occurred from the initial proposal to the best and final 

20      proposal.

21 Q    You correctly read my mind.  

22           Did this lead ultimately to a collective bargaining 

23      agreement of this negotiation process?

24 A    It did.  So under state law, we have to have a proposal 

25      ratified in order for it to be included in the governor's 
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1      budget, and it has to be ratified by October 1st.  We 

2      bargained all the way up to September 26th or 27th, I think.  

3      So we had two or three days in which to turn around a 

4      ratification vote for our members.  And we didn't want to be 

5      in a position where the governor didn't include what they 

6      were offering to us in his budget -- her budget, at that 

7      time, going forward.

8           So we did.  We ratified and then achieved a collective 

9      bargaining agreement.

10 Q    Did you challenge the State's approach to bargaining at all?

11 A    Yes.  Early October, just the next week following conclusion 

12      of bargaining, we filed an unfair labor practice charge 

13      against the State for bad faith bargaining.

14                MR. THAL:  I'm going to ask that everybody turn to 

15      the third binder, the small binder, and look at Exhibit 58, 

16      please. 

17 Q    (By Mr. Thal)  Ms. Thompson, do you recognize this document?

18 A    I do.  This is the unfair labor practice charge and 

19      complaint that was filed on behalf of the Union against the 

20      State on October 4th, 2012.

21 Q    Did you have a role in preparing this unfair labor practice 

22      complaint?

23 A    I did.  I had a role in drafting the factual allegations, 

24      yes.

25 Q    After this unfair labor practice complaint was filed, did 
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1      there subsequently come a time when you began to have 
2      discussions with the State about a possible resolution to 
3      that?
4 A    So, yes.  The State obviously answered the unfair labor 
5      practice complaint.  Hearing dates were scheduled and then 
6      moved.  In the meantime, we had a change in governor.  So 
7      Governor Inslee was elected and we continued in our efforts 
8      in the legislative session to push for interest arbitration 
9      legislatively.  

10           One of the problems that we had in earlier efforts was 
11      that Governor Gregoire had told legislators that she would 
12      veto any such bill, if it came to her desk.  So I really 
13      wanted to meet with the governor, Governor Inslee, to talk 
14      about how important interest arbitration was to this 
15      bargaining unit, to this group of State employees, and ask 
16      for him to support us in our efforts to achieve interest 
17      arbitration.  
18           So I had a meeting with the governor to explain our 
19      position and to make the request that he support our efforts 
20      in interest arbitration.  And I explained what happened in 
21      the bargain last time, how, you know, the State refused to 
22      bargain with us over just taking the money and spreading it 
23      differently and that that had resulted in an unfair labor 
24      practice charge that we were processing forward.  And so 
25      there was -- we had, I don't know, 30-, 40-minute meeting 



THAL (Tracey Thompson, 8/20/14)                                 

Dixie Cattell & Associates (360) 352-2506

40 (Pages 491 to 494)

Page 491

1      about that.  

2           And he was very -- he's not a governor that knows a lot 

3      about labor relations or certainly didn't at that time.  I 

4      don't know whether he's learned a lot more since then.  So 

5      there was a real education process about what is interest 

6      arbitration and, you know, how does all this work and how 

7      does the bargaining process work.  And he told me that he 

8      would get back to us by the end of the day.  He needed to 

9      think about what we were asking of him.  

10           And at the end of the day, we were told by his staff 

11      that he couldn't support our legislation, but he thought 

12      that he had a different solution that he wanted to propose 

13      and that was this interest arbitration MOU.  

14           And the discussion with his staff was over drafting an 

15      MOU that would take us into the next bargaining cycle and 

16      resolve our unfair labor practice charge for what resulted 

17      in the last bargaining cycle and sort of see how it worked.

18 Q    Good.  And so that, I assume, then is what brings us here 

19      today in the form of the MOU that we see as Exhibit 1 in the 

20      Union notebook?

21 A    Correct.  

22 Q    Did you have any further discussions about the detail or 

23      meaning of this MOU with the Office of Financial Management 

24      as this was being drafted?

25 A    Yes.  There was some concerns on the part of -- well, we had 
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1      a number of discussions about, okay, what about mandatory 
2      subjects that are pending currently but arose prior to the 
3      implementation of the MOU?  How will those be treated?  
4                ARBITRATOR:  Wait.  Mandatory subjects?  
5                THE WITNESS:  So the MOU covers not only our 
6      contract bargaining, but any other changes in mandatory 
7      subjects that occur during the course of the term of the 
8      MOU.
9                ARBITRATOR:  Right.

10                THE WITNESS:  For example, we've had -- we've had 
11      bargaining over, you know, from polo shirts to breaks to 
12      whatever it might be.  And so we had some issues that were 
13      pending at that time.  We had discussions about that.  And 
14      we also had discussions about what we each intended.  
15           And I said what we hoped this MOU does is encourage the 
16      State to bargain in good faith with us and to approach 
17      bargaining differently than they have in the past.  That 
18      this would be something that acted as kind of a leverage 
19      piece to both sides to really engage and try to do as much 
20      as possible to avoid interest arbitration.  So we had those 
21      kinds of conversations.
22 Q    (By Mr. Thal)  Did that ultimately come to pass?  Did the 
23      approach to negotiations in this round of negotiation change 
24      from your perspective as a result of this MOU?
25 A    No.
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1 Q    Explain.  

2 A    We, again, came into this bargain talking about our 

3      essential priorities, being the prison premium and 

4      eliminating geo pay and also just starting to close the gap 

5      in the grossly undercompensation of these individuals.  

6           But we got a proposal from the State that was the same 

7      proposal that they offered to every other State agency, as 

8      far as I'm aware, except, apparently, the Federation with 

9      respect to community corrections.  But -- so, no, it did not 

10      result in a change in the approach to bargaining.

11 Q    During the course of these negotiations, was there 

12      discussion about the possibility of renewing this MOU?

13 A    Yes.  We made a proposal in bargaining to renew the MOU and, 

14      frankly, our thought was, you know, maybe we can reach a 

15      collective bargaining agreement if the MOU is renewed so 

16      that we at least have an opportunity in the next round to 

17      continue to try to achieve what our objectives have been for 

18      a long time.  But the State rejected our proposal to reup 

19      the MOU.

20 Q    Did the State take any position as to whether the proposal 

21      to renew the MOU was mandatory and permissive?

22 A    Yes.  Ann was very clear from the very beginning that she 

23      considered the MOU to be permissive subject to bargaining, 

24      and honestly we didn't disagree.

25 Q    What was the sentiment and response of the bargaining team 

Page 494

1      as these negotiations reached its -- reached their climax 

2      here?

3 A    I thought our last bargaining team was probably -- the one 

4      prior to this negotiations was probably the most sort of 

5      irate I've seen our bargaining committee, but this time they 

6      upped it because there really was an expectation that at 

7      least the State would come to bargaining and deal with us as 

8      we were asked to be dealt with, which is as a unique 

9      bargaining unit, as a unique group of employees.  And so 

10      there was real anger and frustration on the part of the 

11      bargaining committee that that didn't occur.  

12 Q    Did the Union vote the State's proposal which is before the 

13      arbitrator today?

14 A    Yes, we did.  Since there was an economic improvement in it, 

15      the 3 percent, we present- -- we felt we had an obligation, 

16      but we presented it to our membership for a ratification 

17      vote and the results were overwhelmingly to reject.

18 Q    Turing your attention then to Union Exhibit 5 in the first 

19      notebook, what is this document?

20 A    This is our tally of ballots.  This is sort of a format that 

21      we use with all of our ratification process.  So when the 

22      ballots are counted, we keep this document with a contract 

23      if it's ratified, but we keep it in our records to reflect 

24      what the vote tally was.  

25           And in this case, 3,099 folks voted, which is amazing.  
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1      We have never had even close to 50 percent of our bargaining 

2      unit participate in a vote, let alone over 50 percent.  And 

3      3,053 voted no, 46 voted yes.

4 Q    Did that result surprise you?

5 A    It actually did.  Because -- well, on a number of levels.  

6      It was a large turnout and that surprised me.  But sometimes 

7      it's difficult in such a large bargaining unit to really 

8      know how everybody feels.  You sort of hear from some of the 

9      same people all the time about how angry they are about how, 

10      you know, disillusioned and all of that.  So I wasn't quite 

11      sure what the -- what the disparity between the yeses and 

12      noes was going to be.  I was really quite surprised that so 

13      many people voted no.

14 Q    As the arbitrator takes this matter back for consideration, 

15      what would you say to the arbitrator is most important from 

16      the Union's perspective in considering how -- all of the 

17      factors that he has to evaluate?

18 A    I don't think it's possible to overstate how much this 

19      process means to the bargaining unit and how much they're 

20      looking for somebody to really acknowledge and recognize the 

21      unique nature of the work that they do and the challenges 

22      and the difficulties and their harm to their psyches and the 

23      impacts on their families.  

24           And so, I mean, we're looking for what we've been 

25      trying to accomplish in all the years we've been bargaining 
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1      on behalf of this group, which is fairness, which is equity 
2      based on the work that they do, which is a recognition of 
3      the vital service that they provide.  And, you know, they 
4      are truly different than any other State employee in the 
5      work that they have to do.  
6                MR. THAL:  Thank you.  I don't have further 
7      questions.  
8                MR. KLEIN:  Can we take five minutes?  
9                ARBITRATOR:  Absolutely.  

10                                     (Recessed at 4:01 p.m.)
11                                     (Reconvened at 4:16 p.m.)
12                ARBITRATOR:  Back on the record after a few 
13      minutes' break and turning to cross.  
14                         CROSS EXAMINATION
15 BY MR. LOWY: 
16 Q    Good afternoon, Ms. Thompson.  
17 A    Hello.
18 Q    Just a couple of quick questions.  
19 A    Sure.
20 Q    Were you aware that the 3 percent offer that was presented 
21      to the Teamsters was not made to all the other unions in 
22      general government?
23 A    I'm aware that 1 and a half and 1 and a half percent, which 
24      is what the State initially offered us, is what I believe 
25      the State's initial offer was to everybody.  I'm not -- I 
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1      don't know whether the 3 percent upfront is something that 
2      they've offered to other government agencies or not.
3 Q    And so would you be aware whether -- are you aware that 
4      Teamsters were the first group in the general government to 
5      get the 3 percent offer?
6 A    I'm not aware of that.
7 Q    And would you agree that the 1.3 percent -- I guess you 
8      called it a prison premium -- was supposed to sunset after 
9      it was originally implemented?

10 A    No.
11 Q    No.  It was not supposed to sunset?
12 A    No.  I was not aware that it was supposed to and it 
13      obviously is a bargaining issue every time.
14 Q    Bargaining issue every time meaning it gets discussed and 
15      renewed?
16 A    Correct.
17 Q    And you would also agree there are a lot of other State 
18      agencies and State workers who do all kind of unique jobs 
19      that are particularly unique to their field?
20 A    Sure.  There are all sorts of unique jobs, but there's no 
21      other job in which people are working inside the adult 
22      prison.
23                ARBITRATOR:  Moving right along.  
24                MR. LOWY:  That concludes our cross.  
25                ARBITRATOR:  Excellent.  Redirect?  
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1                MR. THAL:  No.  We're going to make it.  Thank 
2      you.  
3                ARBITRATOR:  Thanks, Tracey.  
4           And I think we're in recess and off the record until 
5      nine o'clock in the morning.
6                                     (Recessed at 4:19 p.m.)
7                                     (Reconvened at 4:28 p.m.) 
8                ARBITRATOR:  Back on the record.  We have some 
9      documentation cleanup at the end of the day.

10                MR. KLEIN:  There is in section 3, there's   
11      Exhibit 3-3 and Exhibit 3-5, which are memos, both of which 
12      are from Department of Corrections, involving, in one case, 
13      the 2010 time period, the other is more recent.  And I can 
14      certainly put Mr. Frakes back on the stand to do that, but I 
15      think the memos speak for themselves and I'm happy letting 
16      them sit.  
17           Do you want me to go through everything we have and 
18      then you can -- 
19                MR. THAL:  Keep on going.  
20                MR. KLEIN:  Okay.  Next is 4-14, which is CPI  
21      information and there is Seattle, U.S., West, and it's both 
22      U and W.  There's just the CPI from 2004 to 2014.
23                ARBITRATOR:  So let's see if we possibly agree on 
24      the appropriate CPI measure.  What does the Union propose?  
25                MR. THAL:  Actually, I think that's dangerous 
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1      business because I don't think we're going to necessarily, 
2      but I think we're going to give you a presentation on CPI 
3      when Aitchison comes and it's going to work itself out.
4                MR. KLEIN:  I just want to have actually the hard 
5      data in the record so it's in there someplace because I know 
6      that -- 
7                MR. THAL:  Yeah.
8                MR. KLEIN:  -- the lists say it's supposed to be 
9      in there.

10                ARBITRATOR:  All right.  
11                MR. KLEIN:  Next is Segal and their report used 
12      actual correction data on 10 and 15 year for the correction 
13      officers in three states, and that's in, if you look at 
14      4-15, 4-16, and 4-17, that's the data that was used and 
15      there should be -- 
16                MR. THAL:  There's Arizona, Colorado.
17                MR. KLEIN:  Right.  It's Arizona, Colorado, and 
18      Utah in order.
19                MR. THAL:  Yeah.  
20                MR. KLEIN:  With that, we will have, to answer 
21      Dan's question, touched every document.
22                ARBITRATOR:  Objections to any of that?  
23                MR. THAL:  No objections as to anything.  They're 
24      subject to arguments about relevance.  We'll get to all of 
25      that, but there's no -- they are what they are.  
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1                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  Then we really are done for 
2      the day.  
3                MR. SWEDLOW:  Did we get -- 
4                MR. LOWY:  Stipulation.
5                ARBITRATOR:  Stipulation with respect to 
6      tomorrow's -- 
7                MR. SWEDLOW:  So with respect to tomorrow's video 
8      presentation in the morning, we have agreed that anybody who 
9      does not show up to testify but does appear in the video 

10      would have testified consistent with whatever they say on 
11      the video.
12                MR. LOWY:  The State is in agreement.  
13                ARBITRATOR:  So witnesses not appearing, if 
14      called, would have testified consistent with their 
15      statements on the video?  
16                MR. SWEDLOW:  Correct.
17                MR. THAL:  Correct.  
18                ARBITRATOR:  Anything else?  
19                MR. LOWY:  Not regarding that issue.
20                MR. KLEIN:  Not on that issue.
21                ARBITRATOR:  Anything else on any issue?  
22                MR. KLEIN:  Yes.  Mr. Lowy pointed out to me I 
23      missed one, which was an article from Seattle Times.  It is 
24      3-7 dealing with McCleary.  
25                ARBITRATOR:  So the usual Administrative 
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1      Procedures Act sort of approach to reception of evidence 

2      which doesn't exactly apply to these proceedings, but is at 

3      least informative, says essentially you're supposed to take 

4      into account the sorts of things that serious people take 

5      into account in making serious decisions.  I'm always 

6      somewhat puzzled about whether newspaper articles pass that 

7      test.  I will take it for background color.  

8                MR. KLEIN:  I understand.  Just like with any 

9      other exhibit in here, you will take it for whatever worth 

10      you decide to give it.

11                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  Thanks.  Now we really are 

12      done.

13                MR. KLEIN:  Now we really are done.  

14                MR. SWEDLOW:  We are.  

15                ARBITRATOR:  Thanks.  Off the record.

16                                     (Recessed at 4:33 p.m.)

17                                    
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2      I, REBECCA S. LINDAUER, a Certified Court Reporter in and 

3 for the State of Washington, residing at Lacey, do hereby 

4 certify:

5      That the foregoing verbatim record of proceeding was taken 

6 before me and completed on the 20th day of August, 2014, and 

7 thereafter transcribed by me by means of computer-aided 

8 transcription; that the verbatim record of proceedings is a full, 

9 true, and complete transcript of the testimony of said witnesses;

10      That the witnesses, before examination, were duly sworn to 

11 testify the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth; 

12      That I am not a relative, employee, attorney, or counsel of 

13 any party to this action or relative or employee of any such 

14 attorney or counsel, and I am not financially interested in the 

15 said action or the outcome thereof;

16      That I am herewith securely sealing the verbatim record of 

17 proceedings and promptly mailing the same to ARBITRATOR HOWELL 

18 LANKFORD.

19      IN WITNESS HEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand this 26th day 

20 of August, 2014.

21      

22      

23      

                          ________________________________________

24                           Rebecca S. Lindauer, CSR#2402           

                          Certified Court Reporter, in and for the

25                         State of Washington, residing at Lacey.    


